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MANAGEMENT REPORT 

Main Business Areas 

Sunly AS (formerly Sunly Land AS) group (hereinafter: Sunly) is an independent power producer 
engaged in the development, construction and operation of renewable energy projects in the Baltics and 
in Poland. By the end of 2021, investments have been made primarily in the solar energy segment. 

 

  

Solar projects and pipeline are mainly in Poland, 
which is the first market where Sunly started 
investments. All of the operational and in-
construction projects are secured with a subsidy. 
Additionally, Sunly City offers rooftop solar long-
term rental solutions in Estonia. 

Wind pipeline is in the Baltics where Sunly’s team 
has a long track record of successful wind 
development. Sunly’s portfolio includes both 
onshore and offshore wind. First onshore wind 
projects could become ready-to-build in Estonia 
in 2023. For offshore wind, we estimate 8-10 
years until ready-to-build. 

  

Storage investments include Energiasalv, which 
is a 500 MW / 12-hour pumped hydro storage on 
the Northern coast of Estonia, next to the ice-free 
port in Paldiski. The project is co-developed with 

Innovation includes investments in electrification 
start-ups, managed and/or made by Sunly. Sunly 
has a mission to invest 5-10% of capital raised 
into innovation. Initially, investments were made 
via Sunly Innovation OÜ (SI1), which is a 
separate entity from Sunly but which is managed 
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Alexela group and is expecting a final building 
permit in 2022. 

by Sunly’s team. Starting from the end of 2021, 
investments are made via Sunly’s subsidiary 
Sunly Innovation 2 OÜ (SI2). 

Highlights of the financial year 

Operational solar capacity (MW), end of year 

In the beginning of 2021, Sunly’s operational portfolio comprised of a 7 MW small-scale solar projects’ 
portfolio (each project ca 1 MW) in Poland. The portfolio had secured a contract-for-difference (CfD) 
type of subsidy at the 4Q’18 renewable energy subsidy auction in Poland. 

Additionally, by the beginning of 2021, the first 3 MW from Sunly’s next 30 MW small-scale solar projects 
portfolio were operational. The portfolio had secured a CfD subsidy at the 4Q’19 renewable energy 
subsidy auction in Poland. By the end of 2021, the construction was completed for all projects in the 
portfolio. However, 6 MW remained waiting for grid connection finalization. 

During the year, Sunly also finished the construction of 14 x 50 kW solar parks in Estonia, which benefit 
from the old 53.7 EUR/MWh feed-in premium subsidy regime that was available for such small-scale 
capacities. 

In December 2021, 2 x 1.2 MW solar parks became operational in Estonia. Those parks had secured a 
CfD subsidy (with downside protection but open upside) at the 2019 renewable energy subsidy auction 
in Estonia. 

In 1Q’21, Sunly started construction of the next two solar portfolios in Poland: 31 MW small-scale 
portfolio and one 60 MW project. Both had secured a CfD subsidy at the 4Q’20 renewable energy 
subsidy auctions in Poland. The 31 MW portfolio’s projects should become operational during 2022 and 
the 60 MW project in 2Q’23. The 60 MW project is one of the largest solar projects in Poland. 

33.3

96.7

6.7

34.3

7

33

91

7

40

131

2018 2019 2020 2021

Total in-construction Total operational



Sunly AS Group annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021 

6 

 

Production of solar energy (GWh) 

As is typical for solar energy, majority of the production is generated from April to September. Given that 
new solar parks became operational throughout 2021, Sunly’s production was concentrated more to the 
second half of the year, despite the cold and snowy winter in the end of the year. Overall, 2021 was 
sunnier than the average of 2004-2010, based on data from Meteonorm. 

 

Significant events during 2021 

Corporate 

In June 2021, Sunly welcomed new investors on board by raising 28 million euros of equity capital 
both from existing and new investors. Newjoiners included Estonian high net worth individuals and 
also Vardar, a Norwegian municipality-owned energy company, who had been the majority shareholder 
of Nelja Energia. 

In Q3’21, investors approved a merger agreement between Sunly Land AS group and Sunly OÜ group, 
which was finalized in February 2022 (see the “Corporate overview” section below for more details). As 
a result, Sunly Land AS was renamed Sunly AS and the whole group became an Independent Power 
Producer (IPP). Previously, Sunly’s assets and pipeline used to be under Sunly Land AS structure 
whereas the people were under Sunly OÜ structure. Now, the assets and the people are both in the 
same group, thereby increasing the transparency and simplifying Sunly’s management structure and 
corporate governance. 

In December 2021, Sunly signed an agreement for acquiring 100% of the Alseva group. Alseva is of 
one of the largest Polish solar power developers and constructors. During the transaction, which will be 
closed by the end of March 2022, Alseva’s owners will also acquire a minority shareholding in Sunly. 
Sunly and Alseva have been successfully cooperating since 2019 – namely, almost all of Sunly’s solar 
parks in Poland have been developed and constructed by Alseva. 

Solar 

In 1Q’21, Sunly completed the acquisitions of the 31+60 MW solar projects in Poland, which had 
secured subsidy in 4Q’20. Both received project financing senior debt from mBank in Poland, who 
had also financed  Sunly’s previous 7+30 MW solar portfolios in Poland. The 31 MW portfolio agreement 
was signed in 3Q’21 and the 60 MW project agreement in Q4’21. 

7.2

23.8

0.0

7.2

24.3

2019 2020 2021

Production PL Production EE



Sunly AS Group annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021 

7 

 

In 4Q’21, the next 51 MW of small- and medium scale solar parks secured a CfD subsidy in the Polish 
renewable energy auctions. 

Meanwhile, Sunly’s solar pipeline continued growing together with onshore wind cooperation 
agreements with landowners. 

2021 was still affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. This meant some price and delivery time increases 
in solar technology; however, no projects were cancelled or postponed for this reason. 

Wind 

During the year, Sunly signed onshore wind co-development agreements with Inreal and Linas Agro in 
Lithuania. Additionally, onshore wind co-development agreements were signed with Multituul OÜ, 
Metsakohin OÜ and Traperii OÜ in Estonia. 

Storage 

In December 2021, Sunly made the first direct investment in Energiasalv – the 500 MW / 12-hour 
pumped hydro storage in Paldiski – followed by another investment in January 2022. Previously, 
investments in Energiasalv were made via Sunly Innovation. The investments were matched by 
Energiasalv’s other key investor, Alexela group. 

Energiasalv used the funds to finalize land acquisition, start grid connection planning, expand the core 
team, and engage advisers for ensuring various funding sources to the project. 

Innovation 

In 1Q’21, Sunly became one of the founders of the first Energy Cooperative (Energiaühistu) in Estonia. 
The purpose of such cooperatives is to give local activists the opportunity to become shareholders of 
green energy projects in their neighbourhood. We believe this is a key factor in helping local communities 
to benefit from green energy in their region, thereby reducing the NIMBY (not-in-my-backyard) effect. 

In order to further promote innovation, Sunly established the Cleantech Demo Center in cooperation 
with Cleantech ForEst. Covering more than 40 start-ups when launched, the demo centre provides 
facilities to showcase solutions invented in Estonia, with a mission to minimize the environmental 
footprint and pollution. Close to 200 people have visited the centre during the first year, including the 
Estonian Government Office and the Foreign Ministry of Estonia, as well as the Minister of 
Entrepreneurship and Information Technology of Estonia. 

Sunly launched Sunly Innovation 2 OÜ (SI2) in November 2021. SI2’s mandate is to invest 4 mEUR 
in early-stage electrification startups. Sunly will provide management services to SI2 and will maintain 
a majority ownership in SI2. 

• In November 2021, SI2 made its first investment: renewables datahub Rexplorer (matched by 
an equivalent amount directly from Sunly), which helps people and companies estimate the 
renewable energy potential in their area of interest. Sunly has been using the platform for 
several years, in order to quickly assess the potential of any land in Estonia and Latvia. 

• In December 2021, SI2 invested in a P2P Tesla renting platform Beast. 

People 

In 2021, Sunly engaged 9 new team members. Among others, Lili Kirikal, our Chief Financial Officer, 
joined in Q1’21 and Erkki Kallas, Head of Development, in Q3’21. Lili and Erkki also became members 
of the Management Board. 

Key financials 

(in thousands of euros) 2021 Change 2020 

Total revenue  2 165  1 546 619  

EBITDA -1 013 100 -1 113 

EBIT -2 072 -511 -1 561  
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Net profit -3 857 -1 951 -1 906 

Cash and cash equivalents 12 810  10 810  2 000  

Equity 46 326 13 030 33 296 

Loans and borrowings 31 870 16 024 15 846 

EBITDA margin -46.8% 133.0pp -179.8% 

ROIC (Return on invested capital) -3.2% 0.1pp -3.3% 

ROE (Return on equity) -8.3% -2.6pp -5.7% 

Equity ratio 70.9% 0.2pp 70.6% 

 

Total revenue = Revenue + Other income 

EBITDA margin = EBITDA / Total revenue 

ROIC = EBIT / (Equity + Loans and borrowings - Cash and cash equivalents) 

ROE = Net profit / Equity 

Equity ratio = Equity / (Equity + Loans and borrowings - Cash and cash equivalents) 

History/Timeline 

2018-2019 

Sunly OÜ (management company) was established in December 2018 and Sunly Land AS (asset 
company) in April 2019 by the investors and core team who had previously created Nelja Energia – the 
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largest wind power producer in the Baltic States. Although the shareholder structure of both companies 
was somewhat different, the companies were closely linked as Sunly Land AS group was managed by 
the team in Sunly OÜ group. Together with SI1 (see below), the companies worked under the Sunly 
brand umbrella. 

In the first year of operations, Sunly established a cooperation with Alseva group in Poland and acquired 
from them the first solar portfolio (7 MW) in Poland, which had secured a CfD subsidy at the 2018 
renewable energy auction. 

In 2019, Sunly OÜ group signed a management agreement with Sunly Innovation OÜ (SI1). SI1 
(previous business name Marble Invest) is the holdco for the start-up investments made by Nelja 
Energia and, therefore, has a similar investor base to Sunly Land AS. SI1 has a mandate to invest in 
electrification startups and made four investments in 2019: Rexplorer (renewables datahub), Themo, 
GridIO (both energy demand response) and Solarstone (integrated solar panel roofs). 

In order to support Sunly’s mission in innovation, Sunly OÜ created an office space environment for 
cleantech startup companies to work together. Since its establishment, over 15 startups have regularly 
made use of the facilities. 

2020 

Sunly won a CfD subsidy (with downside protection but open upside) for 2.4 MW of solar parks in the 
first Estonian renewable energy auction. 

Additionally, Sunly started the construction of 14 x 50 kW solar parks in Estonia, which benefitted from 
the old feed-in-premium subsidy. Sunly’s parks are scattered around Estonia, not grouped together, 
given the uncertainty around subsidy levels to be allowed (or maintained, in the future) for grouped 
parks. 

In Poland, Sunly continued cooperation with Alseva and finalized the acquisition of the next 30 MW 
solar parks portfolio, which had secured subsidy at the 2019 renewable energy auction. 

Year 2020 marks the first substantial expansion of Sunly’s wind and solar pipeline, as Sunly established 
the first joint venture with a large landowner – OÜ Metsagrupp in Estonia. Additionally, Sunly 
submitted its first seabed rights applications for ca 1.9 GW offshore wind development in Estonia, west 
from Saaremaa island and north from Hiiumaa Island. 

Meanwhile, SI1 invested in Startup Wiseguys Ventures Fund 1 (LP fund investing into startups). 

2021 

See the “Significant events during 2021” section above. 
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Future outlook 

Pipeline 

 

As at the end of 2021, Sunly had 10.5 GW secured and prospective pipeline in the Baltics and Poland, 
together with Alseva. The pipeline included solar, onshore wind and offshore wind projects. The nearest 
term pipeline is in solar development while onshore wind is estimated to become ready-to-build in short 
and medium term, and offshore wind in longer term. 

Goals and Strategy 

Sunly’s mission is to provide renewable energy security of supply in our countries of operation. 

Such a mission requires not only the development of renewable energy projects, but also extensive 
energy storage and electrification-related innovation initiatives. 

We believe that the key to the successful achievement of our mission is transparent communication and 
close cooperation with our stakeholders, shown in the below graph. This allows us to understand their 
values, so that we may address their needs and concerns. 
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Before developing new solar and wind parks, Sunly’s team identifies different stakeholders and 
determines how is the best way to involve and communicate with them throughout the project. 
Stakeholder engagement involves: 

• Communication – inform about the solar/wind project 
• Consultation – ask information, feedback and views which may influence the development of 

the project. Provide information to stakeholders detailing the results of consultation. 

Typical activities taken during the stakeholder management include consulting airport authorities, the 
defence ministry, environmental groups and grid companies, as well as visiting and talking directly to 
neighbours and nearby residents, attending public meetings, negotiating with landowners, informing 
local media and organizing study visits for local governments. 

Sunly is in frequent contact with selected suppliers and subcontractors regarding technological updates 
and price developments. 

In order to maintain regular contact with investors and banks, Sunly prepares quarterly updates of key 
highlights, investment status, operational assets and financial results. 

Sunly acts with its stakeholders according to its own core values: 
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A few examples of the steps we have taken according to our values include memberships in industry 
associations, memberships in local community initiatives, contributing to social responsibility initiatives, 
and creating space for innovation. Sunly also participates in various stakeholder’s groups contributing 
to the development of renewable energy – Green Policy Expert Group of the Estonian Government, 
Renewable Energy Council of the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications in Estonia, 
Electricity Market Council of the Estonian Transmission System Operator, Latvian Wind Energy 
Association etc. 

Even though our main focus is on building solar and wind parks, we also contribute to the technology 
development by investing in electrification startups, supporting international cleantech accelerators and 
being the main anchor of the greentech community led by Cleantech Estonia.When building solar parks 
on land that will be used for agriculture in the future, we do not use permanent installation methods but 
a system that can easily be removed in the future. In Estonia, such systems have been modified to suit 
the local limestone soils. When planning wind farm near a community, we conduct and share 
visualizations of the potential wind farm with people living nearby. When choosing and training our 
employees, we make sure they are supported in implementing Sunly’s values in their daily work. 

Market highlights 

Electricity prices 

Power prices increased rapidly in mid-2021. European average power price in December 2021 was 
almost 4 times higher than in January 2021. This was mainly due to high gas prices, CO2 prices and 
extraordinary weather situations.  

Electricity prices in the Baltics and especially in Poland have been higher than in the Nordics, given the 
higher share of renewables in the Nordics energy mix. 

Inflation 

Inflation both in Poland and Estonia reached its highest levels in the past decade. The main drivers of 
inflation were energy and household goods. 

Inflation has both positive and negative impacts on Sunly’s current and future operations. Although the 
operating costs in renewable energy are generally small and, therefore, not very vulnerable to general 
inflation, renewable energy capex is still impacted by construction prices inflation. On the other hand, 
CfD subsidy in Poland is linked to inflation and this has substantial positive impact on Suny’s business. 

Interest rates 

Sunly’s financing in Estonia is linked to EURIBOR, which did not change much in 2021. 

In Poland, Sunly’s financing is linked to WIBOR, which has been increasing recently. 5-year WIBOR 
swap rate increased about 5 times in 2021. This would have a negative impact on Sunly’s current and 
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future operations if it were not compensated by the inflation increase, driving Polish CfD subsidy rates 
up. 

Corporate overview 

Corporate structure 

 

As stated under the highlights of 2021, Sunly’s investors approved a merger of Sunly Land AS group 
and Sunly OÜ group, in order to transform Sunly into an independent power producer. The first step – 
non-monetary contribution of Sunly OÜ’s shares into Sunly Land AS was registered in October 2021. 
The last step – merger of Sunly Land AS, Sunly OÜ and Sunly Infra OÜ – was completed in February 
2022. As a result, the assets and pipeline of Sunly, which were in Sunly Land AS group, are now under 
the same ownership with the people of Sunly, which were in Sunly OÜ group. 

Vast majority of the Estonian employees of Sunly were in Sunly OÜ (now Sunly AS). 

As at 31 December 2021, the management entities owned by Sunly included: 

• 85% of Sunly Startup OÜ, which is providing management services to SI1 and SI2. Sunly 
Startup does not have any employees but has a management contract with Sunly AS. Minority 
shareholding is held by Vardar, as the founding investor, and by an investment manager 
directly. 

• 78.72% of Sunly Infra OÜ, which is providing management services to Sunly Land AS group. 
At the year-end, minority shareholding was held by a country manager as an intermediate step 
for moving the shareholding to the parent company level during the merger process. Before 
this step, Sunly OÜ owned 100% of Sunly Infra OÜ. 

• 100% of SI2, which was established in 2021 and has a mandate to invest in electrification 
startups. In 2022, the ownership of Sunly may dilute to down to 51% when other investors join 
SI2. 

• 100% of Sunly OÜ, 100% of Sunly Infra SP. Z o.o (PL), 80% of Sunly Infra SIA (LV) and 70% 
of Sunly Infra UAB (LT). These are the management companies employing Sunly’s people. 
Minority shareholdings are held by country managers. 

Sunly’s renewable energy projects, land and rights to land are held in separate subsidiaries (SPVs), in 
order to be able to secure project financing senior debt to the projects. The current portfolio of 
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operational and in-construction assets is 100% owned by Sunly whereas the pipeline is both in 100% 
and majority-owned SPVs (see the graph below). 

 

 

Ownership structure 

 

Sunly has 20 shareholders but nobody holds over 20%. The largest investors are: 

• JMB Investeeringute OÜ, which is owned by Jüri Mõis, who was also a shareholder in Nelja 
Energia. 

• IVARD OÜ, which is owned by the family of Peeter Mänd, who was also a shareholder in Nelja 
Energia. 

• AS Vestman Energia, which is owned by Aivar Berzin, who was also a shareholder in Nelja 
Energia. 

• Vardar AS, a Norwegian utility company, which is owned by Norwegian municipalities around 
Oslo. Vardar was the majority shareholder in Nelja Energia. 
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Management and employees of Sunly – CEO Priit Lepasepp (OÜ InMyOpinion), CFO Lili Kirikal (Perleal 
OÜ), Lithuania-Poland country manager Tadas Navickas, Latvia country manager Toms Naburgs, 
General Counsel Kerstin Kütt (Susurrus OÜ) owned a combined 5.1% stake in Sunly with Employees 
option pool as at the end of 2021. 

Additionally, Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Martin Kruus (OÜ Solarcom), and Vice Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board, Kalle Kiigske (Carduelis Capital OÜ), owned a combined 19.2% stake in Sunly 
as at the end of 2021. Martin and Kalle were the CEO and CFO of Nelja Energia. Both are engaged by 
Sunly also in advisory capacity and, therefore, receive payment for the Supervisory Board positions. 
Other members of Supervisory Board do not receive compensation. 

The shareholder structure changed slightly in February-March 2022 with the completion of the merger, 
leading to a creation of the ca 2% employee option pool, and the vesting of the first options from the 
pool. 

After the completion of the acquisition of Alseva, the owners of Alseva will become minority shareholders 
of Sunly in 2022. 

People 

 

Sunly’s highly skilled team is expanding year by year and every employee has a crucial role in achieving 
our goals. At the end of the financial year, Sunly had 24 experts (2020: 15) in 4 countries, of which 42% 
were female and 58% were male – 18 in Estonia, 3 in Poland, 2 in Lithuania and 1 in Latvia. 

By the end of 2021, Management Board of Sunly had 3 members – CEO Priit Lepasepp, CFO Lili Kirikal 
and Head of Development Erkki Kallas. 

Sunly actively continues to hire top experts in green tech, finance, law, marketing and project 
management, offering them the opportunity to contribute to the development of renewable energy. 

As it is important that Sunly people could thrive in their work activities, we offer various health and sports 
benefits, as well as arrange various events throughout the year. Flexibility and teamwork are 
encouraged in a way that remote work and smooth teamwork can be combined. This became particularly 
important during the pandemic when we supported our people in setting up their home offices in order 
to work remotely as conveniently as possible. 
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Sunly encourages lifelong learning and personal development and is constantly carrying out team 
trainings. In 2022, peer-to-peer learning workshops were launched. The development of employees is 
also encouraged by offering a transfer within the company to new tasks and responsibilities 

Corporate Governance 

Sunly AS (also “the Company”) is the parent company of the Group, which has subsidiaries in Estonia, 
Latvia, Lithuania and Poland. The Group’s management is carried out on a country basis. 

The corporate governance of Sunly AS is based on the Commercial Code and the articles of association 
(“AoA”) of the Company. Sunly AS is a limited company, the governing bodies of which are the General 
Meeting, the Supervisory Board and the Management Board. 

General Meeting 

The General Meeting is the Company’s highest decision-making body, at which the shareholders 
exercise their voting rights. The Company convenes both an annual and extraordinary General Meeting 
of the shareholders. An ordinary General Meeting of the shareholders is held at least once a year within 
six months after the end of the Group’s financial year at the time determined by the Management Board. 
In accordance with the Commercial Code, any matter within the competence of the General Meeting 
may also be decided without calling a General Meeting. 

The authorities of the General Meeting are regulated by the Estonian legislation and the AoA of the 
Company. As per the AoA, the General Meeting may adopt resolutions if at least 75% of the votes are 
present at the meeting. Each share carries one vote at the General Meeting. 

The shareholders of the Company have entered into Shareholders’ Agreement (“SHA”) on the principles 
of transferring and encumbering the Company’s shares, principles of managing, conducting and 
financing the Company’s business and other mutual rights and obligations of the parties to the SHA. 

Share capital and dividends 

Equity. By the end of 2021, Sunly had issued one class of shares. 

Dividend policy. Unless at least 75% of shareholders participating in the Company’s General Meeting 
decide to distribute a given year’s profit otherwise, at least 30% of the Company’s net profit is be 
distributed as dividends each year. The rest of the Company’s profit shall be used mainly for future 
investments and for developing the Company in accordance with the decisions of shareholders and the 
Supervisory Board. 

Capital increase. In order to adopt the decision to increase the share capital of the Company, it is 
required that 75% of all the votes are in favour of it, unless a larger majority vote is required by the law. 

Supervisory Board 

According to the Estonian laws, the Supervisory Board is responsible for planning the activities and 
organizing the management of the Group. The Supervisory Board determines the principles for the 
Group’s strategy, organization, annual operating plans and budgets, financing and accounting. The 
Supervisory Board elects the members of the Management Board and determines their remuneration. 
The Supervisory Board acts independently in the interests of the Group and the Company’s 
shareholders. According to the AoA, the authority of the Supervisory Board of the Company includes 
certain matters in addition to that provided by law. 

In addition to the above, the members of the Supervisory Board actively support the activities of the 
Management Board. 

At the end of 2021, the Supervisory Board consisted of six members: 

- Martin Kruus (member from 9 March 2021) (Chairman of the Supervisory Board) – co-founder 
of Sunly OÜ, former CEO and shareholder at Nelja Energia 

- Kalle Kiigske (member from 9 March 2021) (Vice-Chairman of the Supervisor Board) – co-
founder of Sunly OÜ, former CFO and shareholder at Nelja Energia 
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- Sander Rebane (member from 21 March 2019) – advisor at IVARD, member of the supervisory 
board at Eften real estate funds 

- Robert Olsen (member from 20 June 2021) – CEO at Vardar 
- Mart Mänd (member from 21 March 2019) – advisor and shareholder at IVARD 
- Markus Jonathan Mõis (member as from 20 June 2021) – representative of JMB 

Investeeringute; student of King’s College London. 

During 2021, the following Supervisory Board members resigned: 

- Jüri Mõis (member from 21 March 2019 until 19 June 2021) – representative of JMB 
Investeeringute 

- Erki Unn (member from 21 March 2019 until 8 March 2021) – representative of Vestman 
- Aivar Berzin (member from 21 March 2019 until 15 April 2021) – representative of Vestman 
- Marek Pohla (member from 7 November 2019 until 8 March 2021) – representative of Kaamos 

The term of authority of the members of the Supervisory Board is 5 years. 

The meetings of Supervisory Board are held at least four times a year and not less frequently than once 
every three months. A meeting of the Supervisory Board has a quorum if more than half of the members 
of the Supervisory Board are present. According to the Commercial Code, the Supervisory Board may 
adopt decisions without convening a meeting, provided that all members of the Supervisory Board agree 
to this at each respective occasion. 

Management Board 

The Management Board is an executive body, which runs the day-to-day management of the Company 
in accordance with the legislation and the Company’s AoA. The Management Board also represents the 
Group and is responsible for relations established with third parties and external partners. The 
Management Board is obligated to manage the Company with due diligence, give a thorough overview 
of the financial situation of the Company when presenting annual accounts to shareholders, and perform 
other duties prescribed by regulations. 

At the end of 2021, the Management Board consisted of three members: 

- Priit Lepasepp, Chief Executing Officer, from 21 March 2019, co-founder of Sunly OÜ 
o Previous experience: General Counsel at Nelja Energia; associate at Sorainen (a 

leading law firm in the Baltics) 
o Founder and board member of Tuleva (asset manager of the first index pension funds 

in Estonia) 
o BA in Law from the University of Tartu 
o MA in Law from Tallinn University of Technology 

- Lili Kirikal, Chief Financial Officer, from 26 March 2021 
o Previous experience: transaction advisory consultant at EY Finland, EY Estonia and 

PwC Estonia, focusing on Energy and Infrastructure 
o Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) charterholder 
o BSc in Economics and Business Administration from Stockholm School of Economics 

in Riga, Latvia 
- Erkki Kallas, Head of Development and Production, from 1 October 2021 

o Previous experience: production manager at Nelja Energia; Field Operations Manager 
and Customer Service Leader at GE Renewable Energy (Poland, Romania, Kosovo) 

o BSc, MSc in Electric Power Engineering from Tallinn University of Technology 

The members of the Management Board are elected by the Supervisory Board. Every member of the 
Management Board has the right to represent the Company alone in any legal and business matter. 

The Company’s Management Board and Supervisory Board work in close cooperation to develop and 
pursue the Group’s strategy. The Management Board also reports to the Supervisory Board outside of 
the meetings if deemed necessary to exchange material information regarding Company’s business 
activities. 
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Environmental and Social Engagement 

Sunly aims to conduct its activities towards all stakeholders according to best practices. This includes 
reducing or eliminating negative social and environmental impacts. 

Environmental impact assessments (“EIA”s) are carried out for wind parks and, if needed, also for solar 
farms. The aim is to prevent and be proactive in eliminating and mitigating possible negative impact on 
environment, such as noise, disturbance of natural habitats of flora and fauna.  

EIA is always carried out by independent environmental experts following national and EU legislations. 
EIA is conducted as a clear and transparent process, where all potentially affected groups (local 
communities, all related authorities and associations, environmental organizations etc.) are being 
engaged in order to find suitable and acceptable solution for all the involved parties. 

EIA is also a tool to evaluate the impact of Sunly’s projects to local communities and socio-economic 
impacts.  

Sunly believes that developing and building solar and wind parks can only be done in cooperation with 
local communities. In 2021, Sunly became one of the founders of the first Estonian Energy Cooperative 
(Energiaühistu) that offers people the opportunity to get involved in renewable energy projects. We aim 
to work closely with local communities where we are active, including renting out our land for agricultural 
and horse grazing purposes for the time when we do not use the land ourselves.  

All new solar and wind projects increase Sunly’s positive environmental impact. In 2021, Sunly 
generated a total of 24.3 GWh of energy in Poland and Estonia. This amount of energy equals to 11.4 
thousand tonnes of avoided CO2. 

Sunly’s employees can use an electric car for their work-related rides and in 2021 a prototype of smart 
EV-charger by one of the cleantech startups (Gridio) was installed that charges the car when electricity 
is the cheapest. 

Sunly supports activities, social groups and events, which align with our mission statement and vision. 
We have been building a greentech community in our office space, where different cleantech 
organizations can develop and showcase their products. Since 2019, Sunly together with Cleantech 
ForEst has been supporting Äripäev radio show named Cleantech, where experts of the energy industry 
discuss business opportunities in the field of green technologies. In 2021, Sunly together with Cleantech 
ForEst launched an international cleantech start-ups accelerator Beamline where the first batch focused 
on Energy and Smart Cities. 

Sunly has invested in art and has a tradition to donate to a good cause every Christmas. In 2021, we 
contributed to the medical field, helping nurses who have been under substantial workload during the 
pandemic. We also provided bicycle service stations for couple of local communities and organized 
another Bike Trip of the Estonian Opinion Festival to promote healthy lifestyle. Sunly is working for a 
more sustainable world, we also deliver the surplus food from our events to Lääne-Harju's food sharing 
cupboard to promote the ideology that food is not rubbish, but a valuable resource. 

Risks 

Risk Management 

The management (including identifying, measuring and control) of different risks Sunly encounters in its 
everyday activities, is a significant and integral part of Sunly’s business activities. 

Risk is defined here as the possibility that an event may occur, which affects Sunly in a negative manner. 
The various risk factors affect Sunly’s ability to service its obligations, development of assets, as well as 
achievement of results, growth opportunities and strategic goals. 

The Management Board has the overall responsibility for ensuring that Sunly is aware of possible risks 
that could occur and has established effective processes for risk management and internal control. 

https://www.aripaev.ee/raadio/saatesarjad/cleantech
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Price of electricity 

Energy price risk is the risk of variations in the price of electricity, renewable energy subsidy and other 
benefits. The risk for Sunly occurs in cases where and to the extent that Sunly’s energy sales have not 
been hedged. In such cases, fluctuations in prices in the electricity market would have a direct impact 
on Sunly’s earnings. Risks associated with variations in the price of electricity and of electricity 
certificates or continued low level for energy prices could negatively affect Sunly’s earnings and indicate 
risk for declining value in existing investments. 

To manage risks from the electricity price volatility of Sunly’s production, management would consider 
hedging the electricity price when the exposure to market prices exceeds a certain threshold. Projects 
which have secured a renewable energy subsidy (i.e. all of Sunly’s current projects) already include a 
natural hedge against electricity price volatility, therefore not requiring additional hedging. All hedging 
activities are subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board. 

Risks related to changes in the subsidy schemes are monitored through participation in industry 
associations, and by being an active and responsible stakeholder in the legislative process. 

Variations in output 

Sunly’s revenue is dependent on irradiation, which causes solar production to be seasonal and to 
fluctuate in short intervals depending on irradiation. In our regions, production from May to August 
constitutes ca 50% of the annual production (on a like-for-like basis, without considering new solar parks 
coming operational throughout a year). 

The risk of solar output variation is managed by taking into consideration the standard deviations in 
irradiation over a longer historic time period. 

Technological development 

The electricity produced by Sunly is transported and consumed in the same manner as electricity 
generated by other energy sources, meaning that different energy sources compete with each other. 
Technological advances mean that competing electricity-producing technologies could be developed to 
produce energy in a more favourable manner. There is also a risk that the technology chosen by Sunly 
may entail risks that are unknown today or where the known risks have broader consequences than 
anticipated. 

Sunly manages the risk by selecting modern but well proven technologies from top-tier equipment 
manufacturers. 

Political and regulatory impact 

A large number of regulations in many national, regional and local jurisdictions apply to the business of 
Sunly. The large number of administrative entities involved can make the process of obtaining permits 
to construct and operate an energy project long and complex, which could negatively affect Sunly’s 
future operations. 

Sunly mitigates these risks by monitoring legal discussions relating to the areas of the Group’s interests, 
and participating as an active and transparent stakeholder, where possible. 

Regulatory liabilities 

A wide range of environmental, health and safety regulations could result in significant liabilities for 
Sunly. The environmental, health and safety regulation may also become stricter, in which case Sunly’s 
operations may become non-compliant with applicable requirements. This concerns wind parks more 
than solar parks because wind farms with the noise and shadows of turbine blades may cause 
environmental hazards or nuisances to their local human populations and nature generally. 

Sunly manages the risk by closely monitoring the relevant regulatory developments. 
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Project development 

A number of risks are associated with a project’s development phase, including that a permit cannot be 
obtained in time or that, even if a solar park has become operational, it may take significant additional 
time to pass grid related compliance tests. 

Conflicts with environmental interests as well as with local communities’, telecom, military and airport 
interests may delay or impede the permitting process for new projects. 

To minimize the risks in development projects, an investment decision will only be taken when it is highly 
likely that all relevant permits and funding can be obtained. 

Relations with suppliers 

Construction of solar energy projects requires delivery and assembly of numerous components of 
technical equipment. Sunly is therefore dependent on agreements with and undertakings by external 
suppliers and by the suppliers’ ability to fulfil the agreements in respect to agreed standards of quality, 
delivery times and other factors. As delivery periods for the required input goods can be relatively long 
and some technology is relatively young, construction errors or otherwise incorrect or delayed deliveries 
could result in delays in Sunly’s existing and new projects. 

Sunly mitigates such risks by having internal regulations and guidelines in regard to the supplier 
selection process, as well as professionally prepared contracts, which address supply-side failure 
situations. 

Customers 

As at the end of 2021, Sunly’s revenues mainly depended on Estonian and Polish subsidies. To a minor 
extent, Sunly’s revenues stem from long-term agreements relating to rooftop solar installations. Hence, 
the risk of customers is currently insignificant. 

Landowners and leases 

In Estonia, all solar parks are on lands owned by Sunly; in Poland, solar parks are on lands that are 
leased from third parties. This means that there is a risk that Sunly could be unable to continue to 
operate the park in the leased location if a park’s utilisation period was to exceed the contracted duration 
of the land lease. 

Sunly mitigates the risks ensuring that the land lease will at least cover the useful lifetime of the solar 
parks. 

Access to sites 

To develop, build and operate its solar parks, Sunly requires rights of use to a large number of land 
plots, which are used as an access route and cable route to the grid connection feed-in point. Such land 
is normally not owned by Sunly and is usually secured by lease agreements, easements, building rights, 
written agreements or unilateral consents of the landowners. Due to the size of the projects and a 
number of third parties involved, it may be that not all the land required for the relevant solar park is 
covered to the necessary extent. This may have happened for a number of reasons, including (without 
limitation) because the relevant land plot has been overlooked or because a corresponding right has not 
been agreed to. The lack of, or cancellation of, rights of use to essential and not otherwise replaceable 
land plots can lead to the operation of solar parks having to be completely or partially suspended or to 
additional costs being incurred because existing facilities have to be moved to or new agreements have 
to be concluded on unfavourable terms. Sunly seeks to avoid such cases. 

Permits and plans 

Environmental impact assessment (or a survey, in cases where EIA is not required), planning and zoning 
decisions, building permits or other approvals are necessary to build solar parks. Although Sunly 
attaches significant importance on the quality and correctness of the permitting documentation, it cannot 
be ruled out that permits, which have been granted, will be reassessed within the scope of formal 
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proceedings. Therefore, there is a risk of a permit being revoked in whole or in part, which could lead to 
a project not being implemented, or not being implemented to the planned extent, or having to be 
partially or fully dismantled. The aforementioned risks could have a material effect on the business 
activities, assets, financial condition and results of operations of Sunly, but the realization of the 
aforementioned risks is considered low. 

Operations and maintenance 

Over time, costs for service and maintenance of Sunly’s assets may differ from those on which the cost 
estimate for the investment was based on. Furthermore, actual decommissioning costs could exceed 
those set aside or budgeted, which might negatively affect Sunly’s earnings. So far, this has not been 
observed. 

Impact of market interest rates 

In accordance with the objectives defined by Sunly, the funding of each solar energy project includes a 
large portion of borrowed capital, usually around 60-80% of the total project investment. As a result of 
this funding arrangement, Sunly is exposed to variations in interest rates. Interest risk is defined as the 
risk of a fall in earnings caused by a change in market interest rates. A significant factor affecting interest 
risk is fixed-rate periods. Sunly’s financial policy includes guidelines on fixed-rate periods (interest rate 
duration). The management of interest risk is aimed at reducing negative effects from changes in market 
interest rates. Sunly strives to achieve a balance between cost-effective borrowing and risk exposure 
on the one hand, and a negative impact on earnings in the event of a sudden major change in interest 
rates on the other hand. Increased market interest rates over time will increase interest costs for Sunly, 
which means that its operations, earnings and financial position could be negatively affected unless 
such increased interest costs are compensated by otherwise increased income or reduced costs. 

Financing risk 

Financing risk is defined as the risk that Sunly will be unable to meet its liabilities due to insufficient 
liquidity or difficulties in obtaining funding. Sunly is dependent on its ability to refinance existing facilities 
at their due date and to obtain additional financing at market terms in connection with new projects. 
Sunly is also dependent on its ability to finance short-term fluctuations in cash flow and unforeseen 
major payment obligations. 

To minimize such risks, Sunly’s project financing agreements take into account the duration and value 
of subsidies, if any, and the relevant project’s production’s variability. 

Breach of covenants 

Sunly has financing agreements with certain banks and financial institutions. Some of these agreements 
contain certain restrictive financial and non-financial covenants, which have to be maintained and 
followed throughout the term of the respective financing agreements. There can be no assurance that 
Sunly will be able to comply with these covenants. As a consequence, Sunly may be obliged to repay 
the borrowed facilities prematurely. Financing agreements normally have a cross-default clause, 
meaning that the breach of one of the financing agreements could result in the termination of other 
formally unrelated financing agreements. 

Asset pledges 

The assets and shares of those subsidiaries which have received project financing are pledged to secure 
the financing granted by banks or other financial institutions for the development of projects. 

Counterparty risk 

Counterparty risk is the risk of incurring a loss if a counterparty fails to meet its obligations. Commercial 
counterparty risk encompasses the solvency of business partners or customers and is managed by 
Sunly’s central finance function through careful monitoring of payment track records, customers’ and 
partner’s financial reports and good communication. 
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Disputes 

Sunly is currently not a party to any dispute which could adversely affect Sunly’s earnings or financial 
position. However, it cannot be excluded that Sunly will become involved in disputes in the future. Sunly 
can give no assurances as to the results of any future investigation, proceeding, litigation or arbitration 
brought by private parties, regulatory authorities, or governments. In addition, if some unfavorable 
decisions were to be given against Sunly, significant fines, damages and/or negative publicity could 
negatively affect Sunly’s earnings and financial position. 

Taxes 

The decisions of tax authorities could change Sunly’s previous or current tax situation. 

Region 

Sunly’s principal assets and operations are located in the Baltic region and Poland and it sells all its 
products and services inthese regions. Any adverse change in the economic or political environment in 
these regions may seriously affect the profitability and possibly the viability of Sunly’s business. 

Insurance 

Sunly has mitigated risks on business critical processes, tangible and intangible assets by insuring for 
business interruption, property damage, and liability damage. Nevertheless, Sunly is unable to insure 
against all risks and may be exposed under certain circumstances to uninsurable hazards and risks. 
Accordingly, Sunly could incur substantial losses if an event which is not fully covered by insurance 
occurs. 

Disaster 

The performance of Sunly may be affected by environmental disasters such as storms or wildfires and 
acts of terrorism which are outside its control. The occurrence of such events may have a variety of 
adverse consequences for Sunly, including risks and costs related to the damage or destruction of 
property or suspension of operation. 
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Chairman of the Management Board 
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
31 DECEMBER 2021 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(in thousand euros) Note 
31 December 

2021 
31 December 

2020 
1 January 

2020 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 8 44 713 22 561 4 558 
Intangible assets and goodwill 9 14 445 2 256 1 399 
Investment property 10 817 751 219 
Investments in equity-accounted investees 11 42 200 75 
Other investments 1 000 0 0 
Prepayments 12 126 82 0 

Deferred tax assets 18 122 38 0 

Total non-current assets 61 265 25 888 6 251 

Current assets 
Inventories 375 138 0 
Trade and other receivables 13 2 028 3 140 14 
Prepayments 12 4 533 2 259 1 559 

Cash and cash equivalents 12 810 2 000 3 977 

Total current assets 19 746 7 537 5 550 

Total assets 81 011 33 425 11 801 

Equity 
Share capital 32 423 16 000 10 920 
Share premium 20 039 0 0 
Share option reserve 24 707 0 0 
Reserves 127 4 0 
Foreign currency translation reserve -496 -458 44 
Retained earnings -6 543 -2 524 -609

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 14 46 257 13 022 10 355 

Non-controlling interests 69 8 0 

Total equity 46 326 13 030 10 355 

Liabilities 
Borrowings 15 31 397 14 452 578 
Trade and other payables 17 1 5 0 

Provisions 19 385 0 0 

Deferred tax liabilities 18 32 38 0 

Total non-current liabilities 31 815 14 495 578 

Current tax liabilities 18 117 59 3 
Borrowings 15 473 1 572 0 
Trade and other payables 17 2 280 3 653 865 

Provisions 19 0 616 0 

Total current liabilities 2 870 5 900 868 

Total liabilities 34 685 20 395 1 446 

Total equity and liabilities 81 011 33 425 11 801 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(in thousand euros) Note 2021 2020 

Revenue 20 2 086 502 
Other income 79 117 
Goods, raw materials and services 21 -226 -32
Other operating expenses  22 -1 665 -1 623
Staff costs  23 -1 286 -77

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 8 -798 -189

Amortisation and impairment on intangible assets 9 -261 -259

Other expenses -1 0

Operating loss -2 072 -1 561

Interest income 1 0 

Interest expenses -1 529 -181

Other financial expenses -35 -134

Net finance costs -1 563 -315

Share of loss of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 11 -226 0 

Loss before tax -3 861 -1 876

Income tax   18 4 -30

Loss for the period -3 857 -1 906

Loss attributable to owners of the Company -3 870 -1 902

Loss attributable to non-controlling interests 13 -4

Total comprehensive expense for the period -3 857 -1 906

Comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the 
Company 

-3 870 -1 902

Comprehensive expense attributable to non-controlling 
interests 

13 -4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(in thousands of euros) Note 2021 2020 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Loss before tax -3 860 -1 876

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment on property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets 

8, 9 1 060 445 

Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 226 0 
Share option reserve expense 23 707 0 
Provisions 64 0 

Net finance costs 1 563 314 

Other adjustments 2 0 

Total adjustments 3 622 759 

Changes in trade and other receivables and prepayments 31 -3 945
Changes in inventories -240 22 
Changes in trade and other payables -2 577 3 477 
Interest received 1 0 

Income taxes paid -86 -31

Net cash used in operating activities -3 109 -1 594

Cash flows from investing activities 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets 

8 -19 815 -15 638

Acquisition of investment property -65 -1 164
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 11 -4 065 -1 235

Acquisition of associates 11 -68 0 

Other investing activities 11 -1 000 0 

Net cash used in investing activities -25 013 -18 037

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from borrowings 15 357 15 869 
Repayments of borrowings -2 204 -2 118
Interest paid -1 529 -326

Proceeds from issue of share capital 28 077 5 080

Net cash from financing activities 39 701 18 505 

Total cash flow 11 579 -1 126

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2 000 3 977 
Restricted cash* -697 -157
Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates on cash held -72 -694

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 12 810 2 000 

*Restricted cash includes Debt Service Reserve Accounts and balances of value added tax related
bank accounts in Poland.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

Attributable to owners of the Company 

(in thousands of euros) Share 
capital Share 

premium 

Share 
option 

reserve 
Other 

reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings Total 

Non-
controlling 

interests Total equity 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 10 920 0 0 0 44 -609 10 355 0 10 355 

Loss for the period 0 0 0 0 0 -1 902 -1 902 -4 -1 906
Comprehensive expense for the period 0 0 0 0 0 -1 902 -1 902 -4 -1 906
Transactions with owners of the Company 
Issue of ordinary shares 5 080 0 0 0 0 0 5 080 0 5 080
Changes in reserves 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 0 4 
Other changes in equity 0 0 0 0 -502 -13 -515 12 -503
Total transactions with owners of the company 5 080 0 0 4 -502 -13 4 568 12 4 581

Balance at 31 December 2020 16 000 0 0 4 -458 -2 524 13 022 8 13 030 

Loss for the period 0 0 0 0 0 -3 869 -3 869 13 -3 856
Comprehensive expense for the period 0 0 0 0 0 -3 869 -3 869 13 -3 856
Transactions with owners of the Company 
Issue of ordinary shares 16 423 20 039 0 0 0 0 36 462 0 36 462 
Changes in share option reserve 0 0 707 0 0 0 707 0 707 
Changes in other reserve 0 0 0 123 0 -123 0 0 0 
Other changes in equity 0 0 0 0 -38 -27 -65 48 -18
Total transactions with owners of the company 16 423 20 039 0 123 -38 -150 37 104 48 37 152 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 32 423 20 039 707 127 -496 -6 543 46 257 69 46 326 

More detailed information on the Group’s equity items is provided in Note 14. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1. REPORTING ENTITY 

Sunly AS (also referred to as the ‘Parent’ or the ‘Company’) is a company incorporated and registered 
in the Republic of Estonia on 2 April 2019. The Company’s registered office is at Masti 17, Tallinn, 
11911, Republic of Estonia. The consolidated financial statements of Sunly AS as at and for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the 
‘Group’). The Group is primarily involved in developing and operating solar energy as well as other 
renewable energy projects in the Baltic Sea region. 

Group’s parent entity’s internal merger 

In December 2021, the shareholders of the Group approved the merger of Sunly Land AS with its 
subsidiary Sunly OÜ and the latter’s subsidiary Sunly Infra OÜ. The merger was completed in February 
2022 and the surviving entity (Sunly Land AS) was renamed to Sunly AS. 

This has some impact on the Group’s consolidated financials as the minority shareholding on Sunly Infra 
OÜ level moves to Sunly AS level. Sunly AS stand-alone financials will also be impacted by the merger. 

NOTE 2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021 have 
been prepared in accordance with the Estonian Accounting Act and International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS). These consolidated financial statements are the 
Group's first IFRS consolidated financial statements. Information on adjustments arising from the 
transition to IFRS is disclosed in Note 28. 

The accounting and reporting principles described have been applied consistently to all periods 
presented. 

The management board authorised these consolidated financial statements for issue on 28 March 2022. 
Under the Estonian Commercial Code, the annual report must also be approved by the supervisory 
board and the shareholders. The shareholders may decide to not approve the annual report prepared 
by the management board and approved by the supervisory board and to demand the preparation of a 
new annual report. 

NOTE 3. FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. 

NOTE 4. USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements and estimates 
that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are 
recognised prospectively. 
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Judgements 

Judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements are the following: 

─ The Group’s subsidiary Sunly PLN OÜ has acquired subsidiaries (special purpose vehicles) in 
Poland for the purpose of developing solar parks. The solar projects in the acquired subsidiaries 
are in a “ready to build” phase, meaning that there are no physical solar parks at the time of 
acquisition, but the acquisition includes: (i) rights to the land relating to the solar parks, (ii) 
relevant permits relating to the solar parks, and (iii) an EPC (engineering, procurement and 
construction) contract, under which a third party undertakes to build the solar parks. The Group 
has assessed that these acquisitions do not constitute acquisitions of businesses and are 
therefore outside the scope of accounting for business combinations. The Group has accounted 
for such transactions as intangible asset acquisitions. 

─ As at 31 December 2021 the Company had a 51% interest in a jointly founded company SW 
Metsatuul OÜ. In order to direct the relevant activities of SW Metsatuul OÜ, the votes of all 
shareholders are required. Management has determined that the Company controls SW 
Metsatuul OÜ and has consolidated SW Metsatuul OÜ into its consolidated financial statements. 
Control exists because the nature of the relationship that the Company has with SW Metsatuul 
OÜ indicates that the Company has power to exercise control over the most relevant decisions 
of SW Metsatuul OÜ. The Group has determined that control exists over SW Metsatuul OÜ, 
because: 

o the key management personnel of SW Metsatuul OÜ is the same as for the Company;
o SW Metsatuul OÜ’s operations are funded by the Company; and
o the Company provides services to SW Metsatuul OÜ, which are essential for the

completion of the development projects and have a significant impact on the returns of
SW Metsatuul OÜ.

In addition to SW Metsatuul OÜ, the Company owns a 51% interest in the following jointly founded 
companies: SW Tuulekohin OÜ, SW Multituul OÜ, SW Tuulerii OÜ and SW Eretuul OÜ. Management 
has determined that the Company controls all of these companies and has consolidated these entities 
into its consolidated financial statements. 

Measurement of fair values 

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, 
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

In measuring fair value, a transaction to sell an asset or transfer a liability is assumed to occur either: 

─ in the principal market for the asset or liability; or 
─ if there is no principal market, in the most advantageous market. 

The Group must have access to the main or most advantageous market on the measurement date. 

The measurement of the fair value of an asset or liability uses assumptions that market participants 
would use in determining the price of the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 
best economic interests. The measurement of the fair value of a non-financial asset takes into account 
the ability of the market participant to generate economic benefits by making the highest and best use 
of the asset or by selling it to the market participant that would make the best use of the asset. 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as far 
as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in the fair value hierarchy based on the 
inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows: 

─ Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
─ Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); 
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─ Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs). 

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following 
notes: 

─ Note 7 Financial instruments 

NOTE 5. CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The following new standards, interpretations and amendments were not yet effective for the annual 
reporting period ended 31 December 2021 and have therefore not been applied in preparing these 
consolidated financial statements. The Group plans to adopt these pronouncements when they become 
effective. 

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment to IFRS 16) 

(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021; to be applied retrospectively. Early 
application is permitted) 

In May 2020, COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (the 2020 amendment) were issued, which 
amended IFRS 16 Leases. The 2020 amendment introduced an optional practical expedient that 
simplifies how a lessee accounts for rent concessions that are a direct consequence of COVID-19. 
Under that practical expedient, a lessee is not required to assess whether eligible rent concessions are 
lease modifications. Instead the lessee can account for them in accordance with other applicable 
guidance. The practical expedient introduced in the 2020 amendment only applies to rent concessions 
for which any reduction in lease payments affects solely payments originally due on or before 30 June 
2021. The 2021 amendment provides a one-year extension to the practical expedient for COVID-19 
related rent concessions under IFRS 16 – i.e. permitting lessees to apply it to rent concessions for which 
any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022. 

The Group does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on its financial statements when 
initially applied as the Group has not received any rent concessions from lessors. 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 

(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023; to be applied retrospectively. Early 
application is permitted) These amendments are not yet endorsed by the EU. 

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based solely on 
the entity’s right to defer settlement at the end of the reporting period. The company’s right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months from the reporting date need not be unconditional but must have 
substance. The classification is not affected by management’s intentions or expectations about whether 
and when the entity will exercise its right. The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered 
settlement of a liability. 

The Group does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on its financial statements when 
initially applied. 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2 
Making Materiality Judgements  

(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Early application is permitted) These 

amendments are not yet endorsed by the EU. 

The amendments to IAS 1 aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful 
by: 

─ Requiring companies to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their significant 
accounting policies;  

─ Clarifying that accounting policies related to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions 
are themselves immaterial and as such need not be disclosed; and 
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─ Clarifying that not all accounting policies that relate to material transactions, other events or 
conditions are themselves material to a company’s financial statements. 

The Board also amended IFRS Practice Statement 2 to include guidance and two additional examples 
on the application of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments are consistent with 
the refined definition of material: 

“Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other information included 

in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary 
users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements”. 

The amendments may impact the accounting policy disclosures of the Group. Determining whether 
accounting policies are material or not requires use of judgement. 

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 
(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023; to be applied prospectively. Early 
application is permitted) These amendments are not yet endorsed by the EU. 

The amendments introduce a new definition for accounting estimates: clarifying that they are monetary 
amounts in the financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also 
clarify the relationship between accounting policies and accounting estimates by specifying that a 
company develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by an accounting policy. 

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group as these amendments 
provide guidance in determining whether changes are to be treated as changes in estimates, changes 
in policies, or errors. 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes 

(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Early application is permitted) These 

amendments are not yet endorsed by the EU. 

The amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax on transactions that involve recognising both 
an asset and a liability with a single tax treatment related to both. The amendments narrow the scope 
of the initial recognition exemption (IRE) so that it does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal 
and offsetting temporary differences. As a result, companies will need to recognise a deferred tax asset 
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising on initial recognition of a lease and a 
decommissioning provision. 

The Group does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on its financial statements when 
initially applied. 

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations 

(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Early application is permitted) 

The amendments to IFRS 3 update a reference in IFRS 3 to the 2018 Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting instead of the 1989 Framework. At the same time, the amendments add a new 
paragraph to IFRS 3 to clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. 

The Group does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on its financial statements when 
initially applied.  

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 

(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022; to be applied retrospectively. Early 
application is permitted) 

The amendments to IAS 16 require that the proceeds from selling items produced while bringing an item 
of property, plant and equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating 
in the manner intended must be recognised, together with the cost of those items, in profit or loss and 
that the entity must measure the cost of those items applying the measurement requirements of IAS 2. 
The amendments must be applied retrospectively, but only to items of property, plant and equipment 
that are brought to the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements in 
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which the entity first applies the amendments. The cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments 
will be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component 
of equity, as appropriate) at the beginning of that earliest period presented (if necessary).  

The Group expects that the amendments, when initially applied, will have impact on its financial 
statements as the Group currently capitalises the sale proceeds, earned from the use of the asset during 
its construction and testing, and the related costs, to the cost of the asset. However, the quantitative 
impact of the adoption of the amendments is not yet determined. 

Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022; to be applied retrospectively. Early 
application is permitted) 

In determining costs of fulfilling a contract, the amendments require an entity to include all costs that 
relate directly to a contract. The amendments clarify that the cost of fulfilling a contract comprises both: 
the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to 
fulfilling contracts. An entity must apply those amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled 
all its obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the amendments 
(the date of initial application). The entity will not restate comparative information. Instead, the entity will 
recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment to the opening 
balance of retained earnings or other component of equity, as appropriate, at the date of initial 
application.  

The Group does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on its financial statements when 
initially applied, because in determining costs of fulfilling a contract the Group takes into account both 
incremental costs and other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts.  

Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018-2020 

(Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Early application is permitted) 

Improvements to IFRS (2018-2020) include three amendments to the standards: 

─ the amendments to IFRS 9 Financial instruments clarify that, when assessing whether an 
exchange of debt instruments between an existing borrower and lender is on terms that are 
substantially different, the fees to include together with the discounted present value of the cash 
flows under the new terms include only fees paid or received between the borrower and the 
lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other's behalf. 

─ the amendments IFRS 16 Leases remove illustrative example 13 accompanying IFRS 16, which 
in practice creates confusion in accounting for leasehold improvements for both lessee and 
lessor. The purpose of the amendment is to remove the illustrative example that creates 
confusion. 

─ the amendments to IAS 41 Agriculture removes the requirement to use pre-tax cash flows to 
measure fair value of agriculture assets. Previously, IAS 41 had required an entity to use pretax 
cash flows when measuring fair value but did not require the use of a pre-tax discount rate to 
discount those cash flows. 

The Group does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on its financial statements when 
initially applied. 

Other changes 

Other new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that are not yet effective are not 
expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

NOTE 6. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below. The accounting policies described have been applied consistently, unless otherwise 
stated in the following text. 
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Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Sunly AS and its 
subsidiaries, consolidated line by line. 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which 
control ceases. 

Business combinations 

A business combination is a transaction or other event in which the Group obtains control of one or more 
businesses. A business is an integrated set of activities and assets that is capable of being conducted 
and managed for the purpose of providing goods or services to customers, generating investment 
income or generating other income from ordinary activities. If the assets acquired are not a business, 
the Group accounts for the transaction or other event as an asset acquisition. 

As of the acquisition date, the acquirer recognises its interest in the acquiree's assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities and any goodwill arising in its consolidated statement of financial position and its 
share of the acquiree's income and expenses in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other 
comprehensive income. Consolidation of a subsidiary ceases when the parent loses control of the 
subsidiary. 

Business combinations are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the acquisition 
method. 

Non-controlling interests 

A non-controlling interest is a present ownership interest that entitles the Group to a proportionate share 
of an entity’s net assets upon the entity’s liquidation. 

If less than 100% of a subsidiary is acquired in a business combination, then the Group can elect on a 
transaction-by-transaction basis to measure non-controlling interest either at: 

─ fair value at the date of acquisition; or 
─ the holder’s proportionate interest in the recognised amount of the identifiable net assets of the 

acquiree. 

Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are recognised as 
equity transactions. 

Loss of control 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary 
and the related non-controlling interests and other equity components. Gains or losses arising from the 
loss of control are recognised in profit or loss. The retained interest in the former subsidiary is measured 
at fair value. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

All intragroup transactions, balances and any unrealised profits and losses resulting from intragroup 
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are 
not eliminated if they indicate impairment. 
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Property, plant and equipment 

Initial recognition 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. 

If an item of property, plant and equipment consists of significant parts that have different useful lives, 
the parts are accounted for separately and assigned depreciation rates that correspond to their useful 
lives. The total cost of an asset is allocated to its parts based on their significance. 

Cost 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import 
duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates, agreement and 
commitment fees and other directly attributable expenditure. Borrowing costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset form part of the cost of 
that asset. Land is measured at cost. 

Subsequent costs 

Subsequent expenditure on an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as part of its carrying 
amount only if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity 
and the expenditure can be measured reliably. Costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 
equipment are recognised in profit or loss as they are incurred. 

Depreciation 

When an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised, it is assigned a useful life which serves 
as a basis for determining its depreciation rate. Exceptions include assets with an unlimited useful life, 
which are not depreciated. Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use in the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
Depreciation of an asset ceases when it is fully depreciated or derecognised. If a fully depreciated asset 
is still in use, it is carried in the statement of financial position at nil value until it is permanently withdrawn 
from use. 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method. Depreciation is 
calculated once a month. Depreciation of an asset does not cease when it becomes idle or is temporarily 
retired from active use. Useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at least at each 
financial year-end. 

Asset classes are assigned the following annual depreciation rates: 

─ buildings 4-10%
─ machinery and equipment 20-30%
─ computers and computer systems 20-30%
─ other property, plant and equipment 20-30% 

In the case of individually significant or non-standard items, the depreciation rate is determined for each 
asset separately, based on the expected useful life of the specific item. 

If the estimated useful life of an asset differs significantly from the previous estimate, the remaining 
useful life of the asset is adjusted prospectively, resulting in a change in the asset’s depreciation charge 
for subsequent periods. 

The assessment of impairment of assets is described in more detail in the accounting policy Impairment 

of assets. 

Derecognition 

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised when the item 
becomes permanently unfit for use, when it is sold or otherwise disposed of, when it is leased out under 
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a finance lease, when its loss is detected during a physical inspection, or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 

A gain or loss arising on the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in 
profit or loss within other expenses when the item is derecognised. 

Intangible assets and goodwill 

Initial recognition 

Other intangible 
assets 

Intangible assets include trademarks, patents, licenses, rights of use, 
software, and other non-physical assets that the Group uses in the production 
of products or services or for administrative purposes. 

Intangible assets acquired are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any provision 
for impairment. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with 
finite lives are amortised using the straight–line method over the useful economic life. 

Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in 
the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated 
goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Amortisation 

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets, less their estimated residual values, 
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in profit or 
loss.  

Goodwill is not amortised. All other categories of intangible assets are amortised over a 10-year period, 
except intangible assets that result from purchasing entities in the development phase. These intangible 
assets are amortised over a 25-year period. 

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
if appropriate. 

The assessment of impairment of assets is described in more detail in the accounting policy Impairment 

of assets. 

Impairment of assets 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amount of non-financial assets is reviewed at least annually at the end of the reporting 
period. The purpose of the review is to determine whether there is any indication that would require the 
asset to be written down. If there is reason to believe that the recoverable amount of a non-financial 
asset may have fallen below its carrying amount, an impairment test is performed and, if necessary, the 
asset is written down. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
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there are separately identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other 
assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).  

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the period they are identified. 
An impairment loss for a cash-generating unit is recognised first to reduce the carrying amount of 
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to reduce the carrying amount of the unit's other assets 
proportionately. 

If the reason for an impairment loss recognised in prior periods disappears, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed. Changes in circumstances are analysed at least once a year at the end of 
the reporting period. Impairment losses are reversed and the value of the asset is increased to the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation), had the asset 
not been written down in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss 
within the same line item where the impairment losses were recognised. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The assessment of impairment of financial assets is described in more detail in the accounting policies 
for financial assets and liabilities. 

Leases 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract 
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control and use an identified asset for a period 
of time, in exchange for a consideration. 

The Group as a lessee 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of the lease. 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, at an amount equal to the initial measurement of the 
lease liability. The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability is adjusted for any advance 
lease payments, any direct costs incurred and any restoration costs to be incurred (in dismantling the 
asset and restoring the site or the asset). Any lease incentives received are deducted from this amount. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis from the commencement date of the lease 
to the expiry of the lease term unless the ownership of the underlying asset transfers to the Group at 
the end of the lease term or the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets indicates that the Group plans 
to exercise the purchase option. In that case, the underlying asset is depreciated over its entire 
estimated useful life, which is determined using the same approach that is used for similar items of 
property, plant and equipment that are owned. Right-of-use assets are also adjusted for impairment 
losses, if any. In addition, right-of-use assets are adjusted to reflect certain remeasurements of the lease 
liabilities. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments not paid by the 
commencement date of the lease, using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the incremental borrowing rate. The Group generally applies the incremental 
borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

The incremental borrowing rate is determined by reference to different sources of financing. The inputs 
received are adjusted to reflect the terms of the lease and the type of underlying asset, to find the 
incremental borrowing rate appropriate for the asset. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

─ fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments); 
─ penalties for terminating the lease (if termination is reasonably certain); 
─ the exercise price of a purchase option (if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the 

option); 
─ amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
─ lease payments that depend on an index or a rate. 
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The lease liability is measured at amortised cost. It is remeasured if (a) there is a change in future lease 
payments, reflecting a change in the index or rate used to determine the payments, (b) the amounts 
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee are reassessed or (c) the Group changes its 
assessment of whether it intends to exercise the option to (i) purchase the underlying asset or (ii) extend 
or terminate the lease. The lease liability is also remeasured to reflect changes in fixed payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments). 

If the lease liability is remeasured due to the above reasons, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset. The effect of the change in the lease liability is recognised in 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases 
and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. The Group recognises these lease payments 
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

When entering into or modifying a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their stand-alone price. 

The Group as a lessor 

For contracts under which the Group is the lessor, the Group determines at the commencement date 
whether the lease is an operating lease or a finance lease. 

The Group assesses in each case whether the lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If yes, the lease is classified as a finance lease. If not, 
the lease is classified as an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group also considers certain 
other indicators (e.g. whether the lease term is for the major part of the economic life of the underlying 
asset). 

If the contract contains both lease and non-lease components, the Group applies the accounting policies 
of IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration in the contract to the components. 

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements of IFRS 9 to the lessor’s net 
investment in the lease. The Group reviews regularly estimated unguaranteed residual values used in 
computing the lessor’s gross investment in the lease. 

For operating leases, the Group recognises lease payments as income in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

Investment property 

Investment property is property (land or a building, or part of a building, or both) held (by the owner or 
by the lessee as a right-of-use asset) to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for 
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. 

An investment property is measured initially at its cost. The cost of a purchased investment property 
comprises its purchase price and any expenditure directly attributable to its purchase. 

After initial recognition, investment property is measured at its cost. 

When applying the cost method, investment property is measured in the same way as property, plant 
and equipment, i.e. at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
Land is an asset with an indefinite useful life and is not depreciated. 

Costs associated with subsequent repairs are included in the carrying amount of an investment property 
only if they meet the definition of an investment property and the criteria for recognising an asset in the 
statement of financial position (including the criterion of expected future economic benefits). Expenses 
related to the current maintenance and repair of investment properties are recognised as an expense 
for the period. When an investment property component (such as a partition) is replaced, the cost of the 
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new component is added to the carrying amount of the asset and the carrying amount of the component 
being replaced is written off. 

Other investments 

Current and non-current investments in shares and other equity instruments (except for investments in 
subsidiaries and associates) are stated at fair value through profit or loss. However, on initial recognition 
it is allowed to make an irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income the changes in 
the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument that is not held for trading (this election can be 
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis). Gains and losses arising from changes in value are 
recognised in profit or loss for the period. 

Investments in equity-accounted investees 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not control. In general, 
significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds 20-50% of the voting power of an entity. 
A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to 
the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities. 

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the 
equity method, an investment is initially recognised at cost and adjusted in the following periods for the 
investor's interest in the changes in equity of the investee. 

Investments in subsidiaries and associates in the parent company’s unconsolidated statement 
of financial position 

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost in the parent company's unconsolidated 
statement of financial position. Under the cost method, the initial acquisition cost is adjusted in 
subsequent periods for any impairment losses on the investment. An assessment is made at each 
reporting date as to whether there is any indication that the recoverable amount of an investment may 
have fallen below its carrying amount. If such indication exists, an impairment test is performed. 
Dividends paid by the investee are recognised as income when the investor becomes entitled to the 
dividends. 

Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based 
on the first-in, first-out principle (FIFO).  

Financial assets and liabilities 

Recognition and initial measurement 

Trade receivables are recognised at origination. All other financial assets and liabilities are recognised 
when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At initial recognition, the 
Group measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. Trade 
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are measured at initial recognition at 
the transaction price. 

Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses 

Financial assets 

After initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income, or fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to initial recognition unless the Group changes its 
business model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified 
on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model. 
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A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

─ the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows; and 

─ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

The Group classifies cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other receivables as financial 
assets measured at amortised cost. 

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if both of the following 
conditions are met and it has not been designated as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss: 

─ the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

─ the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

All financial assets that have not been classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost or at 
fair value through other comprehensive income as described above are measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

At initial recognition, the Group may designate a financial asset that meets the conditions for financial 
assets measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income as measured at 
fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or 
recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising 
the gains and losses on them on different bases. 

The following table provides an overview of the Group's financial assets and their measurement and 
recognition of gains and losses. 

Amortised cost Assets designated to this category are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. In determining amortised cost, impairment losses 
are deducted from the carrying amount. Interest income, foreign exchange 
gains and losses and impairment losses on the assets are recognised in profit 
or loss. A gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit 
or loss. A financial liability is classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss when it is held for 
trading, is a derivative, or designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are measured at fair value and any gain or loss on them, as well as any interest 
expense, is recognised in profit or loss. 

Other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Interest 
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses on them are recognised in profit or loss. Gains and 
losses arising on derecognition are recognised in profit or loss. 

Derecognition 

Financial assets 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when, and only when, its contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the financial asset expire or when the Group transfers the financial asset and the transfer qualifies 
for derecognition. The Group transfers the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of a financial 
asset in a transaction by which it transfers all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 
or by which it does not transfer the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but loses (does 
not retain) control of the financial asset. 

If the Group transfers a financial asset recognised in its financial statements but retains all, or 
substantially all, the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the asset is not derecognised. 
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Financial liabilities 

The Group removes a financial liability from its statement of financial position when, and only when, it is 
extinguished. That is, when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
A financial liability is derecognised when its terms are substantially modified so that its cash flows 
become significantly different from the originally agreed ones. In that case the Group recognises a new 
financial liability based on the modified terms and measures it at fair value. 

The difference between (i) the carrying amount of a financial liability (or part of a financial liability) 
extinguished or transferred to another party and (ii) the consideration paid, including any non-cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

Offsetting 

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset, and the net amount is presented in the statement of 
financial position, when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts and it intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost. 

The Group measures the loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit losses, except for financial assets whose loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to a 12-
month expected credit losses, such as: 

─ other receivables; 
─ cash and cash equivalents whose credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition. 

The Group accounts for expected credit losses on all trade receivables using the simplified approach 
provided in IFRS 9 that allows recognising the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit losses. The expected credit losses on trade receivables are calculated using a provision matrix, 
which is based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions and, where appropriate, the time value of money. 

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. A credit loss is a difference 
between the cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows 
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the financial asset’s effective interest rate. 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset measured at amortised cost might 
be credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial 
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events: 

─ significant financial difficulty of the debtor, 
─ a breach of contract (such as a default or past due event), 
─ the Group, for reasons relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty, has granted the debtor 

concessions in restructuring the amount due that it would otherwise not have been considered, 
─ it is becoming probable that the debtor will encounter financial difficulty. 

The carrying amount of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is reduced by the amount of its 
loss allowance. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, current accounts and short-term (with a maturity of 
up to three months) highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value such as term deposits with a maturity of up to three 
months and units in money market funds. 



Sunly AS Group annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021 

41 

The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method whereby the net cash flow from 
operating activities is determined by adjusting profit before tax for the effects of gains and losses 
associated with investing or financing activities, transactions of a non-cash nature and changes during 
the period in current assets and current liabilities related to operating activities. 

Cash flows from investing and financing activities are reported by disclosing gross cash receipts and 
gross cash payments. Non-cash transactions are excluded. 

Restricted cash is presented generally as other financial assets in the statement of financial position. 
Classification between current and non-current depends on the general current vs non-current 
classification principles. As restricted cash is not presented as cash in the statement of financial position, 
it is not presented as cash in the statement of cash flows. Instead, restricted cash is presented either in 
investing activities, operating activities or financing activities, depending on the substance of the 
restricted cash. 

Foreign currency 

The functional currency of each consolidated Group entity is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates. The functional currency of the Group's Estonian, Latvian and 
Lithuanian subsidiaries is the euro and the functional currency of the Polish subsidiaries is the Polish 
zloty. The Group’s presentation currency is the official currency of the Republic of Estonia, the euro 
(EUR). 

Foreign currency translations 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of the Group 
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. A transaction in a foreign currency is 
translated to euros using the exchange rate of the European Central Bank quoted at the date of the 
transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated into the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange 
rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign 
exchange differences are generally recognised in profit or loss and presented within finance costs. 

Foreign operations 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into euros at the exchange rates at the 
reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into euros at the exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. 

If the functional currency of a subsidiary does not coincide with the functional currency of the parent, the 
following exchange rates are used in translating the financial statements of the subsidiary: 

(a) all assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are translated at the exchange rate at the reporting date;

(b) income, expenses and other changes in equity of the subsidiary are translated at the average
exchange rate for the period.

Foreign exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
translation reserve. 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are recognised as part of the cost of that asset. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable are 
those borrowing costs that would have been avoided if expenditure on the qualifying asset had not been 
made. If funds are borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the Group 
determines the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation as the actual borrowing costs 
incurred on the loan during the period, less any investment income on the temporary investment of the 
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borrowed amounts. Other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are 
incurred, using the effective interest method. 

Provisions 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The 
unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost. 

Provisions are measured based on the estimates of management and, if necessary, the estimates of 
independent experts. Provisions are recognised in the statement of financial position in the amounts 
necessary to settle the obligations related to the provisions at the reporting date. 

Employee benefits 

Current employee benefits 

Employee benefits comprise wages, salaries, social security contributions, and short-term compensated 
absences, such as paid annual leave and similar temporary suspensions of the employment contract 
where the absences occur within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees 
render the related service and the compensation for the absences is due to be settled within twelve 
months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. When an employee 
has rendered service to the Group during the reporting period, the Group recognises the amount of the 
employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the service as a liability (accrued expense) after 
deducting any amount already paid. 

Share-based payments 

Group has concluded share option agreements with several employees. Since the Group receives 
services from its employees and assumes an obligation to settle the transactions with equity 
instruments, this is recognised as share-based payment. The fair value of the services that entitle the 
employees to an allotment of equity instruments is expensed at the time the services are rendered and, 
at the same time, a corresponding increase in equity is recognised as a share option reserve. 

The fair value of the equity instruments is calculated as per the grant date for accounting purposes i.e. 
the measurement date. The measurement date refers to the date when a contract was entered into and 
the parties agreed on the terms of the share-based payment. On the grant date, the employees are 
granted rights to share-based payment. Since the granted equity instruments are not vested until the 
employees have fulfilled a period of service, it is assumed that the services are rendered during the 
vesting period. This means that the cost and corresponding increase in equity are recognised over the 
entire vesting period.  

Revenue 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration agreed in the contract signed with the customer. The 
Group recognises revenue when (or as) it satisfies the performance obligation by transferring the goods 
or service to the customer. The table below provides information about the nature and timing of 
performance obligations arising from contracts with customers and related revenue accounting policies. 

Type of product/service Nature and timing of the 
satisfaction of the 
performance obligation, and 
significant payment terms 

Revenue recognition 

Sale of produced electricity The Group produces and sells 
electricity to customers. 
Revenue is recognised on the 
basis of actual units produced 
and sold. Invoices are 
generated at the beginning of 

Revenue from the sale of 
electricity units is recognised in 
the period in which the units are 
delivered. Revenue is 
recognised based on actual 
units delivered. 
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the next month and are usually 
payable within 14-30 days. 

The Group receives 
government support for 
electricity produced from 
renewable energy sources. This 
support forms one part of the 
revenue from the sale of 
electricity produced by the 
Group. 

Income tax 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss, except to the 
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income. 

Current tax 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year 
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current 
tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the amount of tax expected to be paid or received that 
also reflects the uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

Corporate income tax in Estonia 

In accordance with the laws of the Republic of Estonia, Estonian entities do not pay income tax on profits 
earned. Instead, Estonian entities pay income tax on dividends, fringe benefits, gifts, donations, 
entertainment expenses, non-business expenditures and transfer price adjustments. The income tax 
rate is 20% from the gross amount, i.e. 20/80 (2020: 20/80) of the net dividend distribution. Starting from 
2019, it is possible to apply a more favourable tax rate to dividend payments (14%, i.e. 14/86 of the net 
distribution). The more favourable tax rate can be applied to a dividend distribution that amounts to up 
to three preceding years’ average dividend distribution. In calculating the average dividend distribution 
of the three preceding financial years, 2018 is first year that is taken into account. 

Corporate income tax in Latvia 

In accordance with the laws of the Republic of Latvia, Latvian entities do not pay income tax on profits 
earned. Instead, Latvian entities pay income tax on dividends, fringe benefits, gifts, donations, 
entertainment expenses, non-business expenditures and transfer price adjustments. The income tax 
rate is 20% from the gross amount, i.e. 20/80 (2020: 20/80) of the net dividend distribution. 

Corporate income tax in Lithuania 

In Lithuania, corporate profits are subject to income tax. The corporate income tax rate is 15% of taxable 
income. Taxable income is calculated by adjusting profit before tax for permanent and temporary 
differences as permitted by local tax laws. 

Corporate income tax in Poland 

In Poland, corporate profits are subject to income tax. The corporate income tax rate is 19% of taxable 
income. Companies with revenues of up to 1.2 million euros in the given tax year and companies starting 
business activity from 2019 may, under certain conditions, apply a 9% income tax rate. Taxable income 
is calculated by adjusting profit before tax for permanent and temporary differences as permitted by 
local tax laws. 
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Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax 
is not recognised for: 

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

- temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements
to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

- taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they 
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary 
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax 
asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for the reversals of existing temporary differences, are 
considered, based on the business plans of the Group’s subsidiaries. Deferred tax assets are reviewed 
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits 
improves. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when 
they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and it reflects the 
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

Related parties 

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, parties are related if one controls the other 
or can exert significant influence on the other’s operating decisions. In general, related parties include: 

- owners of the parent company;
- other companies belonging to the same Group; and
- members of the Group’s management and supervisory boards and shareholders with a

significant ownership interest unless those persons cannot exert significant influence on the
Group’s operating decisions.

In addition, related parties include close family members of the above persons and companies related 
to them. 

Events after the reporting period 

The consolidated financial statements reflect all significant events affecting the valuation of assets and 
liabilities that became evident between the reporting date and the date on which the financial statements 
were authorised for issue but are related to the reporting or prior periods. 

Subsequent events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date but which will 
have a significant effect on the result of the next financial year are disclosed in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

Classification and fair values of financial instruments  

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial 
assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable 
approximation of fair value. 

Management of the Group has assessed that the fair value of loans is equal to their carrying amount, 
as the contractual interest rates correspond to market interest rates. 

Carrying amount Fair value 

(in thousands of euros) 
31 December 

2021 
31 December 

2020 
31 December 

2021 
31 December 

2020 

Financial assets measured at 
amortised cost 

Trade receivables (Note 13) 2 028 3 140 2 028 3 140 
Cash and cash equivalents 12 810 2 000 12 810 2 000 

Total financial assets 14 838 5 140 14 838 5 140 

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost 

Loans (Note 15) 26 898 13 726 26 898 13 726 

Trade payables (Note 17) 1 216 100 1 216 100 
Other payables (Note 17) 1 066 3 558 1 066 3 558 

Lease liabilities (Note 15) 4 972 2 297 4 972 2 297 

Total financial liabilities 34 152 19 681 34 152 19 681 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or a party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for 
the Group by failing to meet a contractual obligation and arises primarily from the Group’s trade 
receivables. 

The carrying amount of financial assets reflects the maximum exposure to credit risk. 

No impairment losses on financial assets were recognised in profit or loss in the reporting period. 

Customers’ payment behaviour is monitored regularly and at least once a month. 

Expected credit losses 

The Group always recognises an allowance for trade receivables equal to the credit loss expected to 
arise during their lifetime. The expected credit loss of these assets is estimated using a provision matrix, 
which is based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for specific factors related to 
debtors, general economic conditions and, if necessary, the time value of money. Expected credit losses 
are probability-weighted estimated credit losses. A credit loss is the difference between the contractual 
cash flows and the expected cash flows of the Group, which is discounted at the internal rate of return 
on the financial asset. 

No significant credit risk related to clients exists as electricity produced by the Group is paid for by the 
Estonian and Polish electricity trading companies. Hence there are no agreements with individual energy 
users and the credit risk of customers is insignificant. Therefore, no credit loss allowances were booked 
during the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2021. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 12 810 086 euros cash and cash equivalents (31 December 
2020: 2 000 198 euros). Cash and cash equivalents are held with the following financial institutions: 
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- SEB in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, with a rating of AA-. The rating has been issued by Fitch
Ratings Inc.

- mBank S.A. in Poland, with a rating of BBB-. The rating has been issued by Fitch Ratings Inc.

The Group estimates that the credit risk of cash and cash equivalents is low based on the credit ratings 
issued to the financial institutions. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with the 
transfer of cash or another financial asset. Long-term liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not have 
sufficient free cash or other sources of liquidity to cover future liquidity needs to implement its business 
plan and meet its obligations, or that the Group will therefore have to raise available funds within a 
limited time period. 

To minimize liquidity risks, Sunly’s project financing agreements take into account the duration and value 
of subsidies, if any, and the relevant project’s production estimate. 

Exposure to liquidity risk 

The remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at the reporting date are as follows. The 
amounts are gross and undiscounted and include contractual interest payments. 

Contractual cash flows 

31 December 2021 
(in thousands of  euros) 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

1-3
months 

4-6
months 

7-12
months 

1-5
years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 

Loans (Note 15) 26 898 21 71 194 24 704 1 909 26 898 
Lease liabilities (Note 15) 4 972 47 47 94 750 4 035 4 972 
Trade payables (Note 17) 1 216 1 216 0 0 0 0 1 216 
Other payables (Note 17) 1 066 1 064 0 0 1 0 1 066 

Total 34 152 2 348 118 288 25 455 5 944 34 152 

Contractual cash flows 

31 December 2020 
(in thousands of euros) 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

1-3
months 

4-6
months 

7-12
months 

1-5
years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 

Loans (Note 15) 13 726 13 55 1 454 5 678 6 526 13 726 
Lease liabilities (Note 15) 2 297 12 12 24 195 2 053 2 297 
Trade payables (Note 17) 100 100 0 0 0 0 100 
Other payables (Note 17) 3 558 3 553 0 0 5 0 3 558 

Total 19 681 3 678 67 1 478 5 878 8 579 19 681 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as the prices of commodities, exchange rates, 
interest rates and cost of capital, will affect the Group’s income or the value of investments made in 
financial instruments. The purpose of market risk management is to manage and keep positions 
exposed to market risk within acceptable limits while optimizing returns. 

To manage risks from the electricity price volatility of Sunly’s production, Sunly has a policy of fixing the 
electricity price to a certain extent. Projects which have secured a renewable energy subsidy already 
include a hedge against electricity price volatility. All hedging actions are subject to the approval of the 
Supervisory Board. 

Risks related to changes in the subsidy schemes are monitored through participation in industry 
associations, and being an active and responsible stakeholder in the legislative process. 
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Currency risk 

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk as Polish zloty exchange rate is not fixed against euro 
and the currencies in which the Group’s transactions are primarily denominated are the euro and the 
Polish zloty. 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

Currency risk is mitigated by reinvesting the revenue from Poland in the mid-term plan. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Cash flow interest rate risk arises from the Group’s floating 
rate debt and involves the risk that financial expenses will increase as interest rates rise. 

A significant factor affecting interest rate risk is fixed-rate periods. The Group’s financial policy includes 
guidelines on fixed-rate periods (interest rate duration). The management of interest rate risk is aimed 
at reducing the negative effects of changes in market interest rates. The Group strives to achieve a 
balance between cost-effective borrowing and risk exposure on the one hand, and a negative impact on 
earnings in the event of a sudden major change in interest rates on the other. 

Capital management 

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base, so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Management monitors the return on 
capital, as well as the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders. 

The Group monitors capital using the ratio of net debt to equity. Net debt is calculated as total liabilities 
less cash and cash equivalents. Equity comprises all components of equity. 

The Group’s net debt to equity ratio at 31 December 2021 was as follows: 

(in thousands of euros) 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

Total liabilities 34 685 20 394 
Less: cash and cash equivalents -12 810 -2 000

Total net debt 21 875 18 394 

Total equity 46 326 13 030 

Net debt to equity ratio 0.47 1.41 
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NOTE 8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

(in thousands of euros) Land Buildings 
Machinery 

and 
equipment 

Other 
property, 
plant and 

equipment 

Right-
of-use 
assets 

Assets 
under 

construc-
tion 

Total 

Cost at 31 December 2019 0 0 3 0 507 4 048 4 558 

Accumulated depreciation at 
31 December 2019 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Carrying amount at 31 
December 2019 

0 0 3 0 507 4 048 4 558 

Additions 0 0 184 0 1 924 15 452 17 560 
Depreciation 0 -113 -15 0 -61 0 -189
Reclassifications 632 9 030 0 9 0 -9 039 632

Reclassification from assets 
under construction 

0 9 030 0 9 0 -9 039 0 

Reclassification from 
investment property* 

632 0 0 0 0 0 632 

Cost at 31 December 2020 632 9 030 187 9 2 431 10 461 22 750 

Accumulated depreciation at 
31 December 2020 

0 -113 -15 0 -61 0 -189

Carrying amount at 31 
December 2020 

632 8 917 172 9 2 370 10 461 22 561 

Additions 0 251 31 203 2 764 19 660 22 909 
Reclassifications 0 10 461 0 0 0 -10 461 0 
Depreciation 0 -640 -29 -7 -122 0 -798
Additions from merger 0 -8 -2 0 0 0 -10
Accumulated depreciation 
from merger 

0 0 95 0 0 0 95

Disposals 0 0 -45 0 0 0 -45
Cost at 31 December 2021 632 19 742 313 212 5 195 19 660 45 754 

Accumulated depreciation at 
31 December 2021 

0 -761 -91 -7 -183 0 -1 042

Carrying amount at 31 
December 2021 

632 18 981 222 205 5 012 19 660 44 712 

* More information in Note 10.

Right-of-use assets consist of land. See Note 16 for more information on right-of-use assets, lease 
liabilities and amounts recognised in profit or loss. 
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NOTE 9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

(in euros) 

Concessions, 
patents, 

licenses, 
trademarks 

Other* Goodwill** 
Total 

Cost at 31 December 2019 0 1 449 0 1 449 

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2019 0 -50 0 -50

Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 0 1 399 0 1 399 

Acquisitions through business combinations 2 1 112 0 1 114 
Amortisation 0 -259 0 -259

Other changes 0 2 0 2

Cost at 31 December 2020 2 2 561 0 2 563 

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2020 0 -307 0 -307

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 2 2 254 0 2 256

Acquisitions through business combinations 0 4 172 8 273 12 445 
Amortisation 0 -261 0 -261

Other changes 0 5 0 5

Cost at 31 December 2021 2 6 733 8 273 15 008 

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 2021 0 -563 0 -563

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 2 6 170 8 273 14 445 

* Acquisitions of subsidiaries that are outside the scope of business combinations accounting.

** In Q3’21, investors approved a merger agreement between Sunly Land AS group and Sunly OÜ 
group. As a first step, the shares of Sunly OÜ were contributed to Sunly Land AS in October 2021. The 
acquisition price was 8 385 thousand euros and the acquisition was performed as a non-monetary 
contribution. The Group has concluded that the assets acquired constitute a business. Sunly conducts 
annual impairment tests on the goodwill acquired from this business transaction. Given that the business 
previously conducted by Sunly OÜ is not separable from that of Sunly group in general, goodwill is 
tested on the level of the whole Sunly group. Management assessed that there was no need for 
recognising impairment as at 31 December 2021, given that (i) the business combination was carried 
out fairly recently, (ii) Sunly’s operating and in-construction assets have become more mature since the 
time of the transaction and (iii) Sunly’s pipeline has increased since the time of the transaction. 

Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognised as follows. 

 (in thousands of euros) Total Sunly OÜ 
Sunly 
Infra OÜ* 

Sunly 
Infra 
SIA** 

Sunly 
Infra 
UAB** 

Sunly 
Infra SP 
zoo** 

Sunly 
Startup* 

Assets 940 257 523 41 84 28 7 

incl. Investments in subsidaries 202 107 95 0 0 0 0 

Incl. Cash and cash equivalents 63 35 2 3 4 19 0 

Liabilities 592 145 422 10 10 5 0 

Net assets (100%) 348 112 101 31 74 23 7 

Group’s share of net assets (%)  X 100 100 80 70 80 85 

Group’s share of net assets 314 112 101 25 52 18 6 
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Acquisition price 8 385 

Group’s share of net assets -314

Investments in subsidaries 202

Goodwill 8 273 

*Subsidaries of Sunly OÜ

**Subsidaries of Sunly Infra OÜ

NOTE 10. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

(in  thousands of euros) Land Total 

Cost at 31 December 2019 219 219 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 219 219 

Additions 1 164 1 164 

Reclassifications -632 -632

Cost at 31 December 2020 751 751 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 751 751 

Additions 0 0 
Reclassifications 0 0 

Sale of investment property 66 66 

Cost at 31 December 2021 817 817 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 817 817 

Investment property is measured using the cost model. The fair value of purchased land is similar or 
equal to its carrying amount at the reporting date. 

NOTE 11. EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES AND INVESTMENTS IN 
SUBSIDIARIES 

In 2019, Sunly Land AS and Kaamos Pellets OÜ jointly established Scobis OÜ (Scobis). The Company’s 
interest in the established joint venture is 50%. 

Scobis is structured as a separate vehicle and the Group has a residual interest in the net assets of 
Scobis. Accordingly, the Group has classified its interest in Scobis as a joint venture. 
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The following table summarises the financial information of Scobis as included in the entity’s own 
financial statements. 

 (in thousands of euros) 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

Ownership interest 50% 50% 

Non-current assets 0 50 

Current assets  84 104 

Non-current liabilities 0 0 
Current liabilities  1 17 

Net assets (100%) 83 137 

Group’s share of net assets (50%) 42 68 

Carrying amount of interest in joint venture 42 68 

Loss and other comprehensive income (100%) -189 -263

Group’s share of total comprehensive expense -94 -132

Dividends received by the Group 0 0 

In November 2021, the Group invested 833 euros in Polscen OÜ. 

List of subsidiaries 

Investments of the Group's parent company in subsidiaries and associates, as at the end of the reporting 
period: 

Subsidiary Core business  Domicile 

Ownershi
p interest 
at 31 Dec 

2021 

Ownership 
interest at 

31 Dec 2020 

Sunly PLN OÜ Holding company Estonia 100% 100% 
Sunly Land Sp. z o.o Holding company Poland 100% 100% 

Polish Solar SPVs Solar electricity generation Poland 100% 100% 
Sunly Solar Parks 1 Sp.z o.o. Holding company Poland 100% 100% 

Eplant 60 Sp.z o.o. Solar electricity generation Poland 100% 100% 
Sunly Solar Parks 2 Sp.z o.o. Holding company Poland 100% 100% 

Solar Power Staniscze  Solar electricity generation Poland 100% 100% 
Sunly Solar Parks 3 Sp.z o.o. Holding company Poland 100% 100% 
Sunly Solar Parks 4 Sp.z o.o. Holding company Poland 100% 100% 
Sunly Solar Parks 5 Sp.z o.o. Holding company Poland 100% 100% 
Sunly Solar Parks 6 Sp.z o.o. Holding company Poland 100% 100% 

Sunly OÜ* Management company  Estonia 100% 0% 
Sunly Infra OÜ* Management company Estonia 79% 0% 

Sunly Infra Sp.zo.o. Management company Poland 100% 0% 
Sunly Infra UAB Management company Lithuania 70% 0% 
Sunly Infra SIA Management company Latvia 80% 0% 

Sunly Startup OÜ Investing activities Estonia 85% 0% 

Sunly Solar 2 OÜ Solar electricity generation Estonia 100% 0% 
Sunly Solar OÜ Solar electricity generation Estonia 100% 100% 
Sunly Solar Holding OÜ Holding company Estonia 100% 0% 
Sunly City OÜ Solar panels rental Estonia 100% 100% 
Sunly Innovation 2 OÜ Investing activities Estonia 100% 0% 
Sunly PLN 2 OÜ Holding company Estonia 100% 0% 
Vederobalt OÜ Investing in land Estonia 100% 100% 
Sunly Land UAB Wind electricity generation Lithuania 100% 100% 
Sunly Land SIA Wind electricity generation Latvia 100% 0% 
Sunly Wind OÜ Wind electricity generation Estonia 100% 100% 
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SW Metsatuul OÜ Wind electricity generation Estonia 51% 51% 
SW Tuulerii OÜ Wind electricity generation Estonia 51% 51% 
SW Tuulekohin OÜ Wind electricity generation Estonia 51% 51% 
SW Multituul OÜ Wind electricity generation Estonia 51% 0% 
SW Tuulepõld OÜ Wind electricity generation Estonia 51% 0% 

SW Eretuul OÜ Wind electricity generation Estonia 51% 51% 

*More information in Note 9 and Note 29.

NOTE 12. PREPAYMENTS 

(in thousands of euros) 
31 December 

2021 
31 December 

2020 
Prepaid and refundable taxes 1 856 2 074 

Prepaid expenses 663 267 

Other prepayments* 2 140 0 

Total 4 659 2 341 

Non-current 126 82 

Current 4 533 2 259 

Total 4 659 2 341 

*Includes prepayments of 1 000 thousand euros for the purchase of solar park projects and of 318
thousand euros for grid connections.

NOTE 13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

(in thousands of euros) 
31 December 

2021 
31 December 

2020 
Trade receivables 290 69 

Auction bid bonds 1 446 3 023 

Other receivables 292 48 

Total 2 028 3 140 

Non-current 0 0 

Current 2 028 3 140 

Total 2 028 3 140 

Credit risk, market risk and impairment of financial assets 

Information on the Group’s credit and market risks and credit losses due to impairment of receivables is 
provided in Note 7. 
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NOTE 14. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

Share capital 

Share capital of 32 423 220 euros (31 December 2020: 16 000 000 euros) is divided into 32 423 220 
ordinary shares (31 December 2020: 1 600 000 ordinary shares) with a nominal value of 1 euro 
(31.12.2020: 10 euros) each. 

Dividends 

Information on the Group’s retained earnings and contingent income tax liability is disclosed in Note 26. 

Nature and purpose of reserves 

Translation reserve 

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations. 

Share option reserve 

The share option reserve represents the cumulative amounts charged to profit or loss in respect of 
employee share option arrangements where the scheme has not yet been settled by means of an award 
of shares to an individual. 

Other reserve 

The other reserve represents the amount of retained earnings transferred to the reserve according to 
Polish legislation. No restrictions apply to this reserve and dividends can be paid out from this reserve. 

NOTE 15. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

31 December 2021 Loan repayments 

(in thousands of 
euros) 

Base 
currency 

Interest 
rate 

Maturity date 
Contrac- 

tual 
balance 

IFRS 
balance 

Less 
than 
one 
year 

Two to 
five 

years 

More 
than 
five 

years 

Loan agreement with 
Pro Vento 

PLN 2.00% 31 Jan 2022 7 7 7 0 0 

Loan agreement with 
Alseva SA 

PLN 3.00% 30 June 2022 20 20 20 0 0 

Loan agreement with 
Alseva SA 

PLN 3.00% 30 June 2023 18 18 0 18 0 

Loan agreement with 
SEB Pank AS 

EUR 
2.85%+ 6M 
euribor 

30 Sept 2025 1 496 1 496 56 1 440 0 

Loan agreement with 
mBank 

PLN 
2.85%+ 1M 
wibor 

15 Oct 2028 17 879 17 658 203 15 545 1 909 

Loan agreement with 
mBank VAT 

PLN 
1.70%+ 1M 
wibor 

30 Sept 2022 0 0 0 0 0 

Loan agreement with 
mBank 

PLN 
2.50%+ 3M 
wibor 

30 April 2029 0 0 0 0 0 

Bond issued to LHV EUR 8.00% 17 Nov 2025 7 700 7 700 0 7 700 0 

Lease liabilities EUR 3.50% 25-29 years 4 972 4 972 187 750 4 035 

Total 32 092 31 871 473 25 453 5 944 
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31 December 2020 Loan repayments 

(in thousands of 
euros) 

Base 
currency 

Interest 
rate 

Maturity date 
Contrac- 

tual 
balance 

IFRS 
balance 

Less 
than 
one 
year 

Two to 
five 

years 

More 
than 
five 

years 

Loan agreement with 
Pro Vento 

PLN 2.00% 31 Dec 2021 39 39 39 0 0 

Loan agreement with 
Alseva SA 

PLN 3.00% 31 Dec 2022 30 30 0 30 0 

Loan agreement with 
SEB Pank AS 

EUR 
2.85%+ 6M 
euribor 

30 Sept 2025 1 282 1 282 67 1 215 0 

Loan agreement with 
mBank 

PLN 
2.85%+ 1M 
wibor 

2025 8 975 8 694 236 1 933 6 526 

Loan agreement with 
mBank VAT 

PLN 
1.70%+ 1M 
wibor 

30 Jun 2022 1 196 1 181 1 181 0 0 

Bond issued to LHV EUR 8.00% 17 Nov 2025 2 500 2 500 0 2 500 0 

Lease liabilities EUR 3.50% 25-29 years 2 297 2 297 49 195 2 053 

Total 16 319 16 023 1 572 5 873 8 579 

As the transaction costs incurred in connection with the loan agreement with mBank are amortised over 
the loan term, the loan balance differs from the contractual balance. 

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had loan liabilities to mBank under a loan agreement signed by the 
Group’s Polish subsidiary Sunly Land SP Zoo on 26 August 2020 and updated in 2020-2021. The 
maximum amount of the loan is 154 543 thousand zloty (31 December 2020: 83 500 thousand zloty) of 
which 20 000 thousand zloty is the limit for mBbank’s VAT loan. 

The loan from mBank is secured with: 

- receivables within Sunly Land Sp Zoo group and receivables from Sunly PLN OÜ
- a pledge on the shares in Sunly Land Sp Zoo and its subsidiaries (141 705 thousand zloty)
- a commercial pledge on the assets of Sunly Land Sp Zoo and its subsidiaries;
- a pledge on the bank accounts of Sunly Land Sp Zoo and its subsidiaries.

On 2 November 2021, a new loan agreement with a total limit of 100 000 thousand zloty was signed 
with mBank for financing a 60 MW portfolio. No disbursements were made under this agreement in 
2021. 

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had loan liabilities to SEB Pank AS. The Group’s subsidiary Sunly 
Solar OÜ signed a loan agreement with SEB Pank AS (SEB) on 1 October 2020. 

The loan from SEB is secured with a mortgage of building rights (the rights of superficies) of 2 200 
thousand euros in the following locations: 

- Aardelaeka, Palutaja village, Kanepi rural municipality, Põlva county (registry no. 17036350);
- Allikahüti, Jõeküla, Järva rural municipality, Järva county (registry no. 17207650);
- Jõeallika, Jõeküla, Järva rural municipality, Järva county (registry no. 17207650);
- Koosa, Korijärve village, Valga rural municipality, Valga county (registry no. 17036050);
- Koosakalda, Korijärve village, Valga rural municipality, Valga county (registry no. 17036150);
- Kullaaugu, Palutaja village, Kanepi rural municipality, Põlva county (registry no. 17036250);
- Varakambri, Palutaja village, Kanepi rural municipality, Põlva county (registry no. 17036450);
- Veesilma, Tipu village, Põhja-Sakala rural municipality, Viljandi county (registry no. 17207550);
- Järve, Kriilevälja village, Paide city, Järva county (registry no. 11203650);
- Mäekünka, Hauka village, Kanepi rural municipality, Põlva county (registry no. 17035950);
- Järveäärse, Hauka village, Kanepi rural municipality, Põlva county (registry no. 17035850);
- Männiku, Hauka village, Kanepi rural municipality, Põlva county (registry no. 17035650);
- Kingu, Hauka village, Kanepi rural municipality, Põlva county (registry no. 17035750);
- Mario, Vahi alevik, Tartu rural municipality, Tartu county (registry no. 16441050);
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- Normi, Aidu village, Põltsamaa rural municipality, Jõgeva county (registry no. 1544535);
- Paadi, Kõvera village, Võru rural municipality, Võru county (registry no. 17207050)

In addition, the loan from SEB is secured with a commercial pledge of 2 000 thousand euros and with 
the shares of Sunly Solar OÜ. 

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had issued a bond of 7 700 thousand euros to LHV. The parent of 
the Group signed a bond agreement on the maximum amount of 14 000 thousand euros on 16 
November 2020. As at 31 December 2021, the maximum amount was 13 100 thousand euros. 

The agreement is secured with: 

- the shares in Sunly PLN OÜ;
- certain intragroup receivables and loans within Sunly group

Loan agreements with mBank, SEB and LHV contain certain restrictive financial and non-financial 
covenants, which have to be maintained and followed throughout the term of the respective financing 
agreements. As at the reporting dates, the Group was in compliance with all covenants. 

NOTE 16. LEASES 

Leases as a lessee 

The Group leases several assets, including land. Land leases’ average duration is 25-29 years. 

The Group has also entered into leases for which the underlying asset is of low value (where the asset, 
when new, has a value of less than 5 000 euros). The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets. The Group has also elected not to recognise 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases (leases with a term of less than 12 months). 

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is summarised below. 

Right-of-use assets 

(in thousands of euros) Note Land Total 

Balance at 31 December 2019 8 507 507 

Depreciation charge for the year -61 -61
Additions to right-of-use assets 1 924 1 924 

Balance at 31 December 2020 8 2 370 2 370 

Depreciation charge for the year -122 -122
Additions to right-of-use assets 2 764 2 764

Balance at 31 December 2021 8 5 012 5 012 

Lease liabilities 

(in thousands of euros) Note Land Total 

Balance at 31 December 2019 8 507 507 

Repayments -76 -76
Additions  1 924 1 924 

Effects of movements in the exchange rate -58 -58

Balance at 31 December 2020 8 2 297 2 297 

Repayments -69 -69
Additions  2 764 2 764 

Effects of movements in the exchange rate -21 -21

Balance at 31 December 2021 8 4 972 4 972 
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31 December 
2021 

31 December 
2020 

Current 187 49 

Non-current 4 785 2 248 

Total 4 972 2 297 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 

(in thousands of euros) 2021 2020 

Interest on lease liabilities -110 -56
Expenses relating to land lease (reversal) 179 133

Expenses relating to exchange differences 21 58 

Depreciation -122 -61

Total -33 73 

Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows 

(in thousands of euros) 2021 2020 

Principal payments on lease liabilities -69 -76

Interest payments on lease liabilities -110 -56

Total cash outflow for leases -179 -132

Leases as a lessor 

Finance leases 

The Group has not leased any assets to third parties under finance leases. 

NOTE 17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

(in thousands of euros) 
31 December 

2021 
31 December 

2020 

Trade payables 1 216 100 

Total trade payables 1 216 100 

CAPEX payables 351 3 456 

Payables to employees 69 3 

Interest payables 78 27 

Other accrued liabilities* 567 71 

Total other payables 1 065 3 557 

Total 2 281 3 657 

Non-current 1 5 

Current 2 280 3 653 

Total 2 281 3 658 

*Includes a liability of 318 thousand euros for grid connection prepayments (equivalent to the
corresponding asset).
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NOTE 18. INCOME TAX AND TAX LIABILITIES 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 

(in thousands of euros) 
31 December 

2021 
31 December 

2020 
Current tax for the year -86 -30
Deferred tax 90 0

Income tax for the year 4 -30

Loss before tax -3 860 -1 876
Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate* 0 0 
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 4 -30
Tax on dividends 0 0

Income tax for the year 4 -30

Effective tax -0,10% 1,60% 

Deferred tax recognised in the statement of financial position 
Opening balance, deferred tax assets 38 0 
Opening balance, deferred tax liabilities 38 0 
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss -90 0 

Closing balance, deferred tax assets 122 38 

Closing balance, deferred tax liabilities 32 38 

Tax liabilities 
Corporate income tax 7 0 
Land tax 0 59 

Other tax prepayments and payables 110 0 

Total 117 59 

Non-current 0 0 

Current 117 59 

Total 117 59 

*In Estonia and Latvia, instead of profit, profit distributions are subject to income tax

Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities 

As at 31 December 2021, there was no deferred tax liability (2020: 0 euros) for temporary differences 
related to investments in subsidiaries and a joint venture. In case there had been such a liability then it 
would not have been recognised because the Group controls the dividend policy of its subsidiaries and 
is able to veto the payment of dividends of its joint venture – i.e. the Group controls the timing of the 
reversal of the related taxable temporary differences and management is satisfied that they will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 

NOTE 19. PROVISIONS 

(in thousands of euros) Note Other provisions Total 

Balance at 31 December 2020 616 616 

Provisions increased during the year 385 0 

Provisions used during the year 22 -616 -616

Balance at 31 December 2021 385 385 



Sunly AS Group annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021 

58 

Non-current 385 385 

Current 0 0 

Total 385 385 

In accordance with the management agreement signed between Sunly Land AS and Sunly Infra OÜ, 
Sunly Land AS had to pay a capital raising fee in June 2021. Payment of the fee was subject to the 
raising of capital from third parties, which was realised in 2020 when LHV purchased the bond issued 
by Sunly Land AS. The conditions set out in the management agreement were fulfilled and Sunly Land 
AS paid a capital raising fee of 615 808 euros. The management agreement was discontinued after the 
merger of the Sunly Land AS group with the Sunly OÜ group. 

In 2021, a 320 449 euro provision was made for the estimated discounted demolition costs of solar parks 
after the end of their useful life. 

NOTE 20. REVENUE 

Revenue from contracts with customers by geographical area 

(in thousands of euros) 2021 2020 

Sales to countries of the European Union 
Poland 1 979 502 
Estonia 107 0 

Total sales to countries of the European Union 2 086 502 

Total 2 086 502 

Revenue from contracts with customers by major 
products/service lines 
Sale of electricity produced 2 054 502 

Other revenue 32 0 

Total 2 086 502 

Timing of revenue recognition from contracts with 
customers 
Products and services transferred over time 2 086 502 

Total revenue from contracts with customers 2 086 502 

Other income* 79 117 

Total revenue 2 165 619 

*Other income includes a management fee of 45 thousand euros (2020: 0 euros).

NOTE 21. GOODS, RAW MATERIALS AND SERVICES 

(in thousands of euros) 2021 2020 

Maintenance -53 -10
Own use of electricity -35 -6
Trading fee -20 -6
Insurance -26 -6
Land tax -70 0

Other -22 -4

Total -226 -32
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NOTE 22. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

(in thousands of euros) Note 2021 2020 

Management fee* -771 -600
Bookkeeping services -169 -88
Legal services -460 -171
Capital raising fee 19 29 -616

Other -294 -148

Total -1 665 -1 623

*Management fee paid before Sunly OÜ group became a part of the Sunly AS group.

NOTE 23. PERSONNEL EXPENSES 

(in thousands of euros) 2021 2020 

Salary expenses -471 -58
Share option reserve expense -707 0

Social security charges -108 -19

Total -1 286 -77

Average number of staff by employment relationship: 

Staff working under employment contracts* 24 2 

*21 employees became part of Sunly AS Group after Sunly OÜ became a subsidiary of Sunly Land AS
in October 2021.

Social security charges include a contribution to state pension funds. The Group has no obligation to 
make pension or similar payments beyond the social security tax. 

NOTE 24. SHARE OPTION PROGRAM 

The Group has an equity-settled share option program. The program was established to motivate the 
Group’s key employees and management to become shareholders, in order to ensure that the Group's 
financial results would improve, and thus enable employees to obtain benefits from an increase in the 
value of the shares as a result of their work. 

In 2021, Sunly went through a restructuring, as a result of which Sunly Land AS became a parent 
company for the Sunly OÜ group entities. For the purpose of consolidating the share option grants in 
Sunly OÜ group to the level of Sunly Land AS, and for simplifying the administration of employee 
incentive program in Sunly group, most of the share options granted by Sunly group entities were rolled 
over to the level of Sunly Land AS. This resulted in a change of the underlying asset of the share options. 
No other material terms of share option agreements were changed, with the exception of the underlying 
asset of share options. The valuation for the ratio of shares to be granted on Sunly Land AS level was 
based on the valuation of the non-monetary contribution of Sunly OÜ to Sunly Land AS. 

Under the share option program, holders of vested options are entitled to purchase shares at the price 
agreed in the share option agreement. In general, part of the options will vest after the third anniversary 
of entering into the share option agreement and the remaining options will vest after certain agreed 
performance conditions are met. 

As at 31 December 2021, share option agreements had been concluded with 8 employees (including 
management). 
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The fair value of the employee share options has been measured using the Group’s valuation model. It 
was not necessary to use option-pricing models, as the exercise price was generally marginal compared 
to the value of the underlying shares. Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the 
arrangements were not taken into account in measuring fair value. 

Agreement conditions Fair value (in thousands of euros) 

Start date 
Vesting 

date 
Call option 

deadline 
Value at the 

agreement date 

Value difference 
at the 

replacement 
date 

Value at the 
reporting date 

Expense
d in 2021 

Employees 
2019 2022 2027 0 274 1 097 183 
2020 2023 2028 467 123 2 145 255 
2021 2024 2029 57 0 111 7 

524 397 3 354 445 
Management 

2020 2023 2028 337 426 1 347 262 

Total 861 823 4 700 707 

NOTE 25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

Loans received 

2021 
(in thousands of euros) 

Base 
currency 

Interest 
rate 

Maturity 
date 

Loans 
received 

Repayments 
of 

borrowings 

Interest 
paid 

Entities with joint control of, or significant 
influence over, the entity 

Invard OÜ EUR 
6.50%; 
8.00% 

31 Dec. 
2021 

2 000 -2 000 32 

JMB Investeeringute OÜ EUR 
6.50%; 
8.00% 

31 Dec. 
2021 

2 000 -2 000 32 

Kaamos Energy OÜ EUR 6.50% 
31 Dec. 
2021 

500 -500 8 

Vestman Energia AS EUR 
6.50%; 
8.00% 

31 Dec. 
2021 

1 100 -1 100 13 

Total 5 600 -5 600 85 

2020 
(in thousands of euros) 

Base 
currency 

Interest 
rate 

Maturity 
date 

Loans 
received 

Repayments 
of 

borrowings 

Interest 
paid 

Entities with joint control of, or significant 
influence over, the entity 

Invard OÜ EUR 
5.00%; 
7.00% 

31 Dec. 
2020 

500 -500 10 

JMB Investeeringute OÜ EUR 
5.00%; 
7.00% 

31 Dec. 
2020 

500 -500 10 

Kaamos Energy OÜ EUR 
5.00%; 
7.00% 

31 Dec. 
2020 

500 -500 10 

Vestman Energia AS EUR 
5.00%; 
7.00% 

31 Dec. 
2020 

500 -500 10 

Total 2 000 -2 000 40 
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The Group considers parties be related if one party has control over the other party or significant 
influence over the other party's business decisions. Related party transactions include transactions with 
shareholders, executive and senior management, their close relatives and companies under the control 
or significant influence of all the above. 

Transactions with key management personnel 

Payments of fixed and variable remuneration to the members of Management Board and the members 
of Supervisory Board in 2021 amounted to 272 thousand euros (2020: 67 thousand euros). Only two 
members of the Supervisory Board – Martin Kruus and Kalle Kiigske – receive remuneration, given 
that they are also engaged in advisory capacity. 

Additionally, key personnel were granted options under the share option program described in Note 
24. 

NOTE 26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s retained earnings amounted to -6 543 thousand euros 
(31 December 2020: -2 524 thousand euros). The maximum corporate income tax liability that could 
arise (based on Estonian and Latvian tax system) if all of the retained earnings as at the reporting date 
were distributed as dividends amounts to 0 euros (31 December 2020: 0 euros) and the amount that 
could be distributed as the net dividend is 0 euros (31 December 2020: 0 euros). 

The maximum possible income tax liability has been calculated on the assumptions that (i) the net 
dividend and the income tax expense reported in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income for 2022 may not exceed total retained earnings as at the end of the reporting period, and (ii) 
income tax already paid by the subsidiaries is not taxed again. 

NOTE 27. FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PARENT COMPANY 

The financial information on the Parent comprises the primary financial statements of the Parent, which 
are required to be disclosed in accordance with the Estonian Accounting Act. The primary financial 
statements of the Parent have been prepared using the same accounting policies as were applied on 
preparing the consolidated financial statements, except that investments in subsidiaries are measured 
at cost. 



Sunly AS Group annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021 

62 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(in thousands of euros) 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 87 90 
Investment property 1 229 1 214 
Investments in subsidiaries and associates 13 127 2 924 

Loans to subsidiaries 31 398 12 599 

Total non-current assets 45 841 16 827 

Current assets 
Inventories 375 0 
Receivables and prepayments 2 233 385 

Cash and cash equivalents 10 152 190 

Total current assets 12 760 575 

Total assets 58 601 17 402 

Equity 
Share capital 32 423 16 000 
Share premium 20 039 0 
Reserves 1 350 0 

Retained earnings -3 202 -1 755

Total equity 50 610 14 245 

Liabilities 
Borrowings 7 700 2 500 

Total non-current liabilities 7 700 2 500 

Trade and other payables 291 657 

Total current liabilities 291 657 

Total liabilities 7 991 3 157 

Total equity and liabilities 58 601 17 402 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(in thousands of euros) 2021 2020 

Revenue 1 0 
Other income 9 9 
Other operating expenses -1 556 -1 254
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses -12 -7
Other expenses 0 0

Operating loss -1 558 -1 252

Interest income 1 120 471 
Interest expenses -606 -65
Other financial income 0 0

Other financial expenses -177 -515

Net finance income/costs 337 -109

Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax -226 0 

Loss before tax -1 447 -1 361

Income tax 0 0 

Loss for the period -1 447 -1 361

Total comprehensive expense for the period -1 447 -1 361
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(in thousands of euros) 2021 2020 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Loss for the period -1 447 -1 361

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation and amortisation 12 7 

Share of profit of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 226 0 

Net finance costs -337 109 

Total adjustments -99 116 

Changes in trade and other receivables -1 848 122 

Changes in inventories -375 0 

Changes in trade and other payables 684 88 

Net cash used in operating activities -3 085 -1 035

Cash flows from investing activities 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment -9 -97

Acquisition of investment property -15 -1 068

Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired -693 -1 333

Loans granted -19 039 -9 860

Repayments of loans granted 240 3 007

Net cash used in investing activities -19 516 -9 351

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from borrowings 7 700 4 500 

Repayments of borrowings -2 500 -2 000

Interest paid -536 -41

Proceeds from issue of share capital 28 077 5 080

Net cash from financing activities 32 741 7 539 

Total cash flow 10 140 -2 847

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 190 3 529 

Effect of movements in foreign exchange rates on cash held -178 -492

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 10 152 190 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

(in  thousands of euros) 

Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Reserves Retained 
earnings 

Total 

Balance at 31 December 2019 10 920 0 0 -394 10 526 

Loss for the period 0 0 0 -1 361 -1 361
Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0 
Comprehensive expense for the period 0 0 0 -1 361 -1 361
Transactions with owners of the 
Company 

0 0 0 0 

Issue of ordinary shares 5 080 0 0 0 5 080 

Total transactions with owners of the 
Company 

5 080 0 0 0 5 080 

Balance at 31 December 2020 16 000 0 0 -1 755 14 245 

Carrying amount of interests under control 
and significant influence 

0 0 0 -2 924 -2 924

Value of interests under control and 
significant influence under the equity 
method 

0 0 0 2 924 2 924 

Adjusted unconsolidated equity at 31 
December 2020 

16 000 0 0 -1 755 14 245 

Balance at 31 December 2020 16 000 0 0 -1 755 14 245 

Loss for the period 0 0 0 -1 447 -1 447
Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 0 
Comprehensive expense for the period 0 0 0 -1 447 -1 447
Transactions with owners of the 
Company 

0 0 0 0 

Issue of ordinary shares 16 423 20 039 0 0 36 462 

Changes in share option reserve 0 0 1 350 0 1 350 

Total transactions with owners of the 
company 

16 423 20 039 1 350 0 37 812 

Balance at 31 December 2021 32 423 20 039 1 350 -3 202 50 610 

Carrying amount of interests under control 
and significant influence 

0 0 0 -13 048 -13 048

Value of interests under control and 
significant influence under the equity 
method 

0 0 0 13 127 13 127 

Adjusted unconsolidated equity at 31 
December 2021 

32 423 20 039 1 350 -3 123 50 689 

In accordance with the Estonian Accounting Act, adjusted unconsolidated retained earnings represent 
the amount that is available for distribution to shareholders. 
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NOTE 28. EXPLANATION OF THE TRANSITION TO IFRS AND COMPARATIVE INFORMATION 

RECONCILIATIONS OF EQUITY REPORTED UNDER PREVIOUS GAAP TO EQUITY REPORTED UNDER IFRS AT THE DATE OF 
TRANSITION AND AT THE END OF THE LATEST PERIOD PRESENTED IN THE ENTITY'S MOST RECENT ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS UNDER PREVIOUS GAAP 

Attributable to owners of the Company 

(in thousands of euros) Share capital Reserves 

Foreign 
currency 
translation 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
Non-
controlling 
interests 

Total equity 

Balance at 1 January 2020 in accordance 
with previous GAAP 

10 920 0 44 -609 10 355 0 10 355 

Adjustments due to changes in accounting 
policies (IFRS 16) 
Profit for the period 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Balance at 1 January 2020 in accordance 
with IFRS 

10 920 0 44 -609 10 355 0 10 355 

0 

Balance at 31 December 2020 in 
accordance with previous GAAP 

16 000 4 -458 -2 405 13 141 8 13 149 

Adjustments due to changes in accounting 
policies (IFRS 16) 
Loss for the period 0 0 0 -14 -14 0 -14
Adjustments due to changes in accounting 
policies (Other) 

0

Loss for the period 0 0 0 -105 -105 0 -105

Balance at 31 December 2020 in 
accordance with IFRS 

16 000 4 -458 -2 524 13 022 8 13 030 
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RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME REPORTED UNDER 
PREVIOUS GAAP FOR THE LATEST PERIOD IN THE ENTITY'S MOST RECENT ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TO ITS TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME REPORTED 
UNDER IFRS 

 (in thousands of euros) 2020 

Comprehensive income for 2020 in accordance with previous GAAP -1 786

Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies (IFRS 16) 
Goods, raw materials and services 132 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses -61

Interest expenses -56
Other financial expenses 58

Total adjustments due to changes in accounting policies (IFRS 16) 73 

Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies (Other) 

Goods, raw materials and services -91

Other operating expenses -131

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-current assets 4

Interest expenses 26 

Total adjustments due to changes in accounting policies (Other) -192

Comprehensive income for 2020 in accordance with IFRS -1 905

RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS REPORTED UNDER PREVIOUS GAAP FOR THE 
LATEST PERIOD IN THE ENTITY’S MOST RECENT ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
TO ITS CASH FLOWS REPORTED UNDER IFRS 

 (in thousands of euros) 2020 

2020 cash flows from operating activities in accordance with previous GAAP -1 661

Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies (IFRS 16) 
Loss before tax -120
Depreciation and amortisation 57
Net finance costs -27

Total adjustments due to changes in accounting policies (IFRS 16) -90

2020 cash flows from operating activities in accordance with IFRS -1 751

2020 cash flows from investing activities in accordance with previous GAAP -18 358

Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies (IFRS 16) 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 321 

Total adjustments due to changes in accounting policies (IFRS 16) 321 

2020 cash flows from investing activities in accordance with IFRS -18 037

2020 cash flows from financing activities in accordance with previous GAAP 18 737 

Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies (IFRS 16) 
Proceeds from borrowings -124
Repayments of borrowings -76
Interest paid -32

Total adjustments due to changes in accounting policies (IFRS 16) -232

2020 cash flows from financing activities in accordance with IFRS 18 505 
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NOTE 29. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 

Acquisition of Alseva 

On 23 December 2021, Sunly signed an investment agreement (the “Investment Agreement”) for the 
purpose of acquiring certain entities constituting the Alseva group in Poland: 

• 100% of Alseva Pro Spzoo (“Alseva Pro”) – successor of the business of Alseva Innowacje
Spzoo, which includes development of solar parks in Poland, as well as other renewable energy
related initiatives. The company employs a team of professionals experienced in early stage
development of solar parks. The team provides development services both to external clients
as well as the SPVs in the Alseva group.

• 100% shareholding in around 70 SPVs (special purpose vehicles) in Alseva group (except for a
few SPVs where 50% shareholding is acquired) – the SPVs own the rights to land and various
permits for solar parks’ development in Poland. The SPVs do not employ any people and are
managed by Alseva Pro.

• Alseva Spzoo SpK – a company providing engineering, procurement and contracting (EPC)
services for solar parks’ construction in Poland. The company employs a team of professionals
experienced in designing and constructing solar parks.

• 100% of Alseva Spzoo – a company providing accounting services to Alseva group entities.
• 50% of Rova – company providing operational and maintenance (O&M) services both to

external clients as well as the SPVs in the Alseva group, which own projects in an operational
phase.

The transaction is expected to be closed by the end of March 2022 and will have a significant impact on 
the Group’s financials. 

The transaction price will be paid partially in cash, partially in the shares of Sunly (in combination with a 
put option), and partially in earn-outs. 

After the transaction, the current management of Alseva remains in place and the Alseva brand 
continues to be used in the Polish market. 

Alseva is one of the largest players in the Polish solar market. 

Group’s parent entity’s internal merger 

In December 2021, the shareholders of the Group approved the merger of Sunly Land AS with its 
subsidiary Sunly OÜ and the latter’s subsidiary Sunly Infra OÜ. The merger was completed in February 
2022 and the surviving entity (Sunly Land AS) was renamed Sunly AS. 

This has some impact on the Group’s consolidated financials as the minority shareholding on the Sunly 
Infra OÜ level moves to the Sunly AS level. Sunly AS stand-alone financials are also impacted by the 
merger. 

Impacts of the war in Ukraine 

The Group continues monitoring the events in Ukraine and their impacts on the Group’s business. The 
Group’s short-term daily operations are not directly impacted, given that the supply chain, customer 
base and other immediate stakeholders do not include parties from Ukraine, Russia or Belarus. There 
is not yet enough clarity on the indirect impacts of the war in order to draw conclusions on the medium 
and longer term impacts on the Group’s activities. 
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PROFIT ALLOCATION PROPOSAL 

 

Based on the audited financial results, the Management Board proposes to the shareholders’ annual 
general meeting that the 2021 comprehensive expense attributable to owners of the Company of -3 870 
thousand euros and retained earnings of previous periods of -2 673 thousand euros, totalling -6 543 
thousand euros, be allocated as follows: 

Net loss for the period ended 31 December 2021 -3 870 thousand euros 

Retained earnings of previous periods - 2 673 thousand euros 

Total retained earnings -6 543 thousand euros 

Transfer to legal reserve 0 euros 

Dividend distribution 0 euros 

Balance of retained earnings after allocations -6 543 thousand euros 
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SIGNATURES OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD TO THE ANNUAL 
REPORT 2021 

 

The Company's Management Board has approved the GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2021 of Sunly AS 
for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

The Supervisory Board has reviewed the annual report prepared by the management board, consisting 
of the management report, the consolidated financial statements, the profit allocation proposal and the 
auditors’ report, and has approved it for submission to the general meeting of shareholders. 

 

28 March 2022 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Priit Lepasepp 
Chairman of the Management Board 

 

 

 

______________________________________ 

Lili Kirikal 
Member of the Management Board 
 
 

 

______________________________________ 

Erkki Kallas 
Member of the Management Board 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

 

To the Shareholders of Sunly AS 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sunly AS (the Group), which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements presented on pages 24 to 67, present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 

of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Estonia) (including Independence 
Standards) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the management 
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. In addition, our responsibility is to state whether the information presented in the 
management report has been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard and we state that 
the information presented in the management report is materially consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements and in accordance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
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Union, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Estonia), we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 
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Tallinn, 28 March 2022  

 

      

     

Indrek Alliksaar       Liis Kontkar 

Certified Public Accountant, Licence No 446   Certified Public Accountant, Licence No 593 

 

 

KPMG Baltics OÜ 

Licence No 17 
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CONTACT DETAILS 

 

 

 

Business name: Sunly AS 

Main activity: Development and operation of solar energy  

Commercial registry number: 14695483 

Postal address: Masti 17, Tallinn 11911 

Country of incorporation: Republic of Estonia 

Phone: +372 56264164 

E-mail: info@sunly.ee 

Corporate website: www.sunly.ee 

Beginning of financial year: 1 January 2021 

End of financial year: 31 December 2021 

Legal form: Limited Company 

Auditor: KPMG Baltics 
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